

LUND UNIVERSITY

Experimental and Clinical Studies on Contact Allergy to Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate and Related Substances

Hamada, Haneen

2017

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Hamada, H. (2017). Experimental and Clinical Studies on Contact Allergy to Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate and Related Substances. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Faculty of Medicine]. Lund University: Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Experimental and Clinical Studies on Contact Allergy to Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate and Related Substances

HANEEN HAMADA | DEPARTMENT OF OCCUPATIONAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL DERMATOLOGY| SKÅNE UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL | LUND UNIVERSITY



Experimental and Clinical Studies on Contact Allergy to Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate and Related Substances

Haneen Hamada



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Aulan, Kvinnokliniken, SUS, Malmö. September 1, 2017 at 09:15 a.m.

> *Faculty opponent* Lina Hagvall

Organization	Document name
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
Dept. of Occupational and Environmental	
Dermatology	
Skåne University Hospital	
Malmö, Sweden	
	Date of issue: September 1, 2017
Author(s) Haneen Hamada	Sponsoring organization

Title and subtitle Experimental and Clinical Studies on Contact Allergy to Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate and Related Substances

Abstract

The exposure to isocyanates is more of an occupational problem than a consumer problem. The main route of exposure is assumed to be through inhalation. Isocyanates that have high vapor pressure, such as TDI, can be airborne at room temperature. Other isocyanates such as MDI are volatile only when heated. Industrial processes that can cause exposure to isocyanates are, for example, spraying or heating. Inhalation of isocyanates can cause disorders of the respiratory tract. Isocyanates are well known to cause direct toxic and irritant effects, such as irritation of the nose, throat, and upper airways and also eye and skin irritation. In animal and human studies, it has been found that isocyanates cause skin sensitization and sensitization of the lung. The sensitization mechanism and metabolism of isocyanates is not fully understood. Concurrent reactions are often seen between different isocyanates and their different corresponding amines. It is not always evident whether the concurrent reactions are due to co-exposure or possible cross-reactivity. Patch test preparations of 4,4'-MDI have been shown to contain only fractions of what is stated. Concentrations of 4,4'-MDI in test preparations decrease rapidly.

The aim of the first two papers included in this thesis was to study the dermal uptake and metabolism of isocyanates by dermal provocation of volunteers with different doses of 4,4'-MDI. This was done by the tape-stripping technique and studies on plasma and urine over time. The aim of papers three, four, and five was to investigate the sensitizing capacities and cross-reactivity patterns of some common isocyanates and the corresponding amines in order to provide a better understanding of isocyanate contact allergy. In order to do so, the guinea pig maximization test (GPMT) was used. The aim of paper six was to investigate the cause behind the rapid decrease in 4,4'-MDI in patch test preparations.

The main findings were as follows. (i) The distribution after dermal uptake of diphenylmethane-4.4'-diisocyanate (4.4'-MDI) appears to be a slower process than what is seen for airway uptake. Instead, our results indicated that the distribution of 4,4'-MDI in the skin and the subsequent elimination is a slow process, and the proportion absorbed into the skin was approximately half of the amount applied. The main amount absorbed reacts with cell components or forms polyurea and is probably released as diphenylmethane-4,4'-diamine (4,4'-MDA) by spontaneous or enzymatic hydrolysis over weeks or months, distributed systemically, and finally eliminated. A proportion of reacted 4,4'-MDI is probably eliminated from the skin upon cellular renewal. Patch testing with freshly made preparations of 2% 4,4'-MDI might lead to active sensitization. Thus, a concentration of 0.5% in pet., which has been recommended by the European Society for Contact Dermatitis (ESCD) based on our results, should be used (Papers I and II). (ii) 4,4'-MDI, 4,4'-MDA, dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate (4,4'-DMDI), dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diamine (4,4'-DMDA), and p-phenylene diamine (PPD) are strong sensitizers among our group of sensitizers. 4.4'-MDI sensitized animals cross-react to 4.4'-MDA and to 4.4'-DMDI and animals sensitized to 4.4'-MDA crossreacted to 4,4'-DMDA. PPD-sensitized animals showed cross-reactivity to 4,4'-MDA and there was an indication of crossreactivity to 4,4'-DMDA. 4,4'-MDI-sensitized animals did not show cross-reactivity to PPD, so PPD cannot be used as a marker of 4,4'-MDI allergy. (iii) 4,4'-MDI reacts with water, protein, or other components found in Freund's complete adjuvant used in the GPMT. Aged, pure 4,4'-MDI is instable, even when stored in the freezer. The outcome of 4,4'-MDI sensitization in the GPMT might be affected by the instability of the pure substance and also its reaction with Freund's complete adjuvant. Induction substances should be prepared in close connection with the intradermal injection (Papers III, IV, and V). (iv) Evaporation and reaction with water can be excluded as significant factors for the instability of the 4,4'-MDI patch test preparations. Most data indicate that trimerization-and perhaps also dimerization-is the main factor influencing this instability. The 4,4'-MDI trimer might be a weak allergen due to the higher molecular weight making it more difficult to penetrate through the skin. Since many patients have been patch tested with aged 4,4'-MDI patch test preparations (where the patients do not react), we can conclude that if the trimer is present, it does not cross-react with 4,4'-MDI (Paper VI).

Key words: 4,4'-MDI, diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate, 4,4'-MDA, PPD, 2,4-TDI, 4,4'-DMDI, 4,4'-DMDA, Contact allergy, dermal uptake, cross-reactivity, GPMT, Trimer, Freund's complete adjuvant.

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)

Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English
ISSN and key title 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-7619-492-8
Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2017:110		
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 172	Price
	Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Stanger Hamada

17(73)

Experimental and Clinical Studies on Contact Allergy to Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate and Related Substances

Haneen Hamada



Cover photos by the talented Joakim Nilsson

Copyright Haneen Hamada

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2017:110 Department of Occupational and Environmental Dermatology Skåne University Hospital Lund University SE-205 02 Malmö Sweden

ISBN 978-91-7619-492-8 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2017









To Mom, Dad, Mustafa, Farah, Christoffer, and Noah

Contents

The thesis at a glance	9
Paper I	
Paper II	10
Paper III	11
Paper IV	12
Paper V	13
Paper VI	14
Abbreviations	16
1 Introduction	17
1.1 Contact allergy and allergic contact dermatitis	17
1.2 Patch testing	18
1.3 Isocyanates	19
1.3.1 Exposure to isocyanates	
1.3.2 Respiratory and carcinogenic effects	21
1.3.3 Contact allergy to isocyanates	22
1.3.4 Sensitization and cross-reactivity	23
2 Aims	25
3 Materials and methods	27
3.1 Chemical structures of the isocyanates and amines investigated	27
3.2 Studies I and II	29
3.2.1 Subjects	
3.2.2 Dermal provocation	
3.2.3 Tape-stripping	
3.2.4 Patch test concentrations	
3.2.5 Urine and plasma samples	
3.2.6 Chemical investigation, workup procedure and sampling	

3.3 Studies III, IV, and V	
3.3.1 Guinea pig maximization test	
3.3.2 Analysis of 4,4'-MDI in FCA/paraffin oil	34
3.3.3 Statistics	34
3.4 Study VI	
3.4.1 Chemical investigation of 4,4'-MDI in petrolatum	36
3.5 Ethics	37
4 Results	
4.1 Studies I and II	
4.2 Studies III and IV	43
4.3 Study V	47
4.4 Study VI	48
5 Discussion	55
5.1 Studies I and II	55
5.2 Studies III and IV	59
5.2.1 Sensitizing capacity in GPMT	
5.2.2 Cross-reactivity in GPMT	
5.3 Study V	62
5.4 Study VI	63
6 Summary and concluding remarks	67
7 Popular scientific summary in Swedish	69
Acknowledgments	73
References	75

The thesis at a glance

Paper I

Dermal uptake study with diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate led to active sensitization

Objectives:

To investigate the dermal uptake of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate (4,4'-MDI) and to explore the indications that the commonly used patch test concentration 2% in petrolatum can cause active sensitization.

Methods:

Using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry, we performed chemical analysis of the 4,4'-MDI preparation used in the application and of the amount of 4,4'-MDI not absorbed in the skin. The volunteers were tested with serial dilutions of 4,4'-MDI and the potentially cross-reacting substances 4,4'-diaminodiphenylmethane (4,4'-MDA), *p*-phenylenediamine (PPD) and dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate (4,4'-DMDI).

Results:

Patch test results indicated that the volunteers were actively sensitized to 4,4'-MDI following the dermal uptake study since they had positive reactions to 4,4'-MDA, which is considered to be a marker of MDI allergy. No positive reactions to PPD or DMDI were seen. Chemical investigation confirmed that the correct concentration had been used for the dermal uptake study, and showed that about 70% of the 4,4'-MDI applied was not absorbed.

Conclusions:

This dermal uptake study with 4,4'-MDI in 2.0% petrolatum with an occlusion time of 8 hours induced active sensitization to 4,4'-MDI and subsequent contact allergy to 4,4'-MDA.

Paper II

Assessment of dermal uptake of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate using tape stripping and biological monitoring

Objective:

To investigate the dermal uptake of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate (4,4'-MDI).

Methods:

Four volunteers were dermally exposed to 10, 25, 49, or 50 mg 4,4'-MDI, respectively, for 8 hours. The exposed areas were tape-stripped. Urine and blood levels were biologically monitored for 48 hours. Tape strips, plasma, and urine were analyzed by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry.

Results:

Between 35% and 70% of the dose of 4,4'-MDI applied was absorbed by the skin. Very low proportions of the dose applied were found in the tape-stripping. The concentration of 4,4'-MDA in plasma and urine was low, but it peaked in urine 10–14 hours after exposure and in plasma 8–32 hours after exposure.

Conclusions:

4,4'-MDI is readily absorbed by the human skin. Only small proportions of 4,4'-MDI as such remained in the superficial layers of the skin. The amounts found in blood and urine were only small fractions of the total doses applied, indicating that very small amounts of 4,4'-MDI penetrate the skin and reach the blood stream. This indicates that 4,4'-MDI polymerizes or reacts with cell constituents in the upper layers of the skin. The dermal uptake and distribution of 4,4'-MDI is much slower than what is seen with airway uptake. Our data strongly suggest that formation of 4,4'-MDA from 4,4'-MDI by reacting with water in the skin can only occur to a very limited extent.

Paper III

Sensitization and cross-reactivity patterns of contact allergy to diisocyanates and corresponding amines. Investigation of diphenylmethane-4,4'diisocyanate, diphenylmethane-4,4'-diamine, dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'diisocyanate, and dicylohexylmethane-4,4'-diamine

Objectives:

To investigate the sensitizing potential and the cross-reactivity pattern of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate (4,4'-MDI), diphenylmethane-4,4'-diamine (4,4'-MDA), dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate (4,4'-DMDI), and dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diamine (4,4'-DMDA).

Methods:

We used the guinea pig maximization test (GPMT).

Results:

The GPMT showed sensitizing capacities for all the substances investigated: 4,4'-MDI (p<0.001), 4,4'-MDA (p<0.001), 4,4'-DMDI (p<0.001), and 4,4'-DMDA (p<0.001). 4,4'-MDI-sensitized animals showed cross-reactivity to 4,4'-MDA (p<0.001) and 4,4'-DMDI (p<0.05). 4,4'-MDA-sensitized animals showed cross-reactivity to 4,4'-DMDA (p=0.0084).

Conclusion:

All the substances investigated were found to be strong sensitizers. Animals sensitized to 4,4'-MDI showed cross-reactivity to 4,4'-MDA and 4,4'-DMDI, thus supporting previous findings in the literature. Animals sensitized to the aromatic amine 4,4'-MDA showed cross-reactivity the aliphatic amine 4,4'-DMDA.

Paper IV

Sensitizing capacities and cross-reactivity patterns of some diisocyanates and amines using the guinea pig maximization test. Can *p*-phenylenediamine be used as a marker for diisocyanate contact allergy?

Objectives:

To investigate the sensitizing capacities of toluene-2,4-diisocyanate (2,4-TDI) and PPD and the cross-reactivity of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diamine (4,4'-MDA), 2,4-TDI, dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diamine (4,4'-DMDA), dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate (4,4'-DMDI), diphenylmethane-4,4'- diisocyanate (4,4'-MDI), and *p*-phenylenediamine (PPD).

Methods:

We used the guinea pig maximization test (GPMT).

Results:

PPD was found to be a strong sensitizer (p<0.001). Animals sensitized to PPD showed cross-reactivity to 4,4'-MDA (p<0.001), and there was some indication of cross-reactivity to 4,4'-DMDA (p=0.069). The cross-reactivity did not go in both directions, i.e. animals sensitized to 4,4'-MDA and 4,4'-DMDA did not show cross-reactivity to PPD. Animals sensitized to 2,4-TDI developed toxic reactions at the induction site. Based on the 16 animals sensitized to 2,4-TDI, there was some indication of cross-reactivity to PPD (p=0.20).

Conclusion:

PPD was found to be a strong sensitizer. However, it cannot be used as a marker for isocyanate contact allergy. On the other hand, positive reactions to 4,4'-MDA could indicate a PPD allergy. The intradermal induction concentration of 2,4-TDI (0.70% w/v) can induce strong local reactions in guinea pigs and should be reduced.

Paper V

Factors affecting the concentration of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate in Freund's complete adjuvant. Can they affect the outcome of the guinea pig maximization test?

Objectives:

To investigate the stability of 4,4'-MDI and its possible reaction with components in Freund's complete adjuvant (FCA).

Methods:

The same preparations as used in the GPMT were prepared, i.e. 1.0% w/v 4,4'-MDI in FCA/paraffin oil (40/60 v/v), and stored under different conditions for 48 hours. The content of 4,4'-MDI in FCA/paraffin oil mixtures and also in samples of pure substance was monitored by chemical analysis using gel permeation chromatography (GPC).

Results:

The 4,4'-MDI content in the pure substance can decrease substantially within a few months. A rapid decrease in 4,4'-MDI concentration was also seen in 4,4'-MDI/FCA preparations stored in the refrigerator and at room temperature.

Conclusion:

The outcome of 4,4'-MDI sensitization in the GPMT might be affected by the instability of the pure substance as well as its reaction with FCA. Major effects can be expected if these two factors interact. Thus, fresh 4,4'-MDI should be used and preparations of induction substances should be prepared in close connection with the intradermal injection.

Paper VI

The mysterious instability of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate (4,4'-MDI) in petrolatum patch test preparations for diagnoses of contact allergy

Objective:

To investigate why the concentration of 4,4'-MDI decreases in patch test preparations intended for detection of 4,4'-MDI contact allergy.

Method:

We performed chemical analysis of 4,4'-MDI preparations using gel permeation chromatography (GPC). We also performed synthesis of 4,4'-MDI trimer and analysis using Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR).

Results:

Addition of water to the 4,4'-MDI preparations did not cause significant loss of 4,4'-MDI. Hence, the degradation was not caused by polymerization due to its reaction with moisture in the petrolatum or in the air. Instead, the findings supported the hypothesis that trimerization is the cause of degradation. The characteristics of the synthesized trimer of 4,4'-MDI matched previously published data using FTIR. The synthesized trimer matched trimer extracted from the aged 4,4'-MDI preparations. NMR analysis of the synthesized trimer showed high amounts of impurities but indicated the presence of 4,4'-MDI trimer.

Conclusion:

Reaction of 4,4'-MDI with water and evaporation can be excluded as reasons for the instability of 4,4'-MDI in patch test preparations. There are strong indications that the cause of instability is due to the spontaneous formation of 4,4'-MDI trimer. Since many patients tested with aged preparations do not react, this indicates that the possible trimer does not cross-react with 4,4'-MDI and that it is probably a weaker allergen than 4,4'-MDI .

List of publications

- I. Dermal uptake study with 4,4'-diphenylmethane diisocyanate led to active sensitization
 Hamada H, Isaksson M, Bruze M, Engfeldt M, Liljelind I, Axelsson S, Jönsson B, Tinnerberg H, Zimerson E
 Contact Dermatitis 2013:66:101-105
- II. Assessment of dermal uptake of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate using tape stripping and biological monitoring Hamada H, Liljelind I, Bruze M, Engfeldt M, Isaksson M, Jönsson B, Tinnerberg H, Lindh C, Axelsson S, Zimerson E Accepted in The European Journal of Dermatology
- III. Sensitization and cross-reactivity patterns of contact allergy to diisocyanates and corresponding amines. Investigation of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate, diphenylmethane-4,4'-diamine, dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate, and dicylohexylmethane-4,4'-diamine

Hamada H, Bruze M, Zimerson E, Isaksson M, Engfeldt M Contact Dermatitis. 2017 May 29. doi: 10.1111/cod.12809. [Epub ahead of print] PMID: 28555927

IV. Sensitizing capacities and cross-reactivity patterns of some diisocyanates and amines using the guinea pig maximization test. Can *p*-phenylenediamine be used as a marker for diisocyanate contact allergy?

Hamada H, Bruze M, Zimerson E, Isaksson M, Engfeldt M Submitted

- V. Factors affecting the concentration of diphenylmethane-4,4'diisocyanate in Freund's complete adjuvant. Can they affect the outcome of the guinea pig maximization test? Hamada H, Bruze M, Zimerson E, Isaksson M, Engfeldt M Journal of Clinical & Experimental Dermatology Research 2017:8:402
- VI. The mystical instability of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate (4,4'-MDI) in petrolatum patch test preparations used for diagnoses of contact allergy Hamada H, Engfeldt M, Bruze M, Isaksson M, Zimerson E In manuscript

Abbreviations

ACD CLP D Da DBA 4,4'-DMDA 4,4'-DMDI DMSO DPRA ESCD FCA FTIR GC-MS GHS GPC GPMT HDI HMBC HMQC HRIPT ICD ICDRG IPDI LLNA 4,4'-MDA 2,2'-MDI 2,4'-MDI 4,4'-MDA 2,2'-MDI 2,4'-MDI 4,4'-MDA 2,2'-MDI 2,4'-MDI MEST NMR OECD P _{o/w} pet. PPD PUR RADS	Allergic contact dermatitis Classification, labeling, and packaging Day Dalton Di-n-butylamine Diamino-4,4'-dicyclohexylmethane Dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate Dimethyl sulfoxide Direct peptide-reactive assay European society of contact dermatitis Freund's complete adjuvant Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy Gas chromatography–mass spectrometry Globally harmonized system Gel permeation chromatography Guinea pig maximization test Hexamethylene diisocyanate Heteronuclear multiple bond correlation Heteronuclear multiple quantum coherence Human repeated insult patch test Irritant contact dermatitis International contact dermatitis research group Isophorone diisocyanate Local lymph node assay Diphenylmethane-2,2'-diisocyanate Diphenylmethane-2,4'-diisocyanate Diphenylmethane-2,4'-diisocyanate Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate Mouse ear-swelling test Nuclear magnetic resonance Organization for economic cooperation and development Partition-coefficient _{octanol/water} Petrolatum p-Phenylenediamine Polyurethane Reactive airway dysfunction syndrome
RADS 2,4-TDA	
2,4-TDA 2,4-TDI	2,4-Toluene diisocyanate

1 Introduction

1.1 Contact allergy and allergic contact dermatitis

"Delayed contact hypersensitivity" and "type IV allergy" are synonyms of contact allergy. Contact allergy is a reaction that can develop after the skin has been exposed to sensitizing substances. These substances are called contact allergens. Clinically, contact allergy shows as allergic contact dermatitis (ACD). The ACD appears when a person is exposed to a dose of the allergen that exceeds that person's threshold (1). More than 4,000 substances are known to cause contact allergy (2).

A contact allergen must first penetrate the skin barrier and then react with proteins to form an antigen. The requirements for penetration of the skin are high lipophilicity ($logP_{o/w} > 1$) (3) and low molecular weight (< 1000 Da) (4). Such contact allergens are also called haptens or incomplete antigens, as they are too small to act as antigens. Many macromolecules such as proteins contain nucleophilic groups that are rich in electrons and can form covalent bonds with electrophiles, which are positively charged. Almost all haptens are electrophilic and can therefore react with proteins, but not all of them; some need to undergo metabolic processes to gain electrophilic properties while others gain these properties by, for example, auto-oxidation (1, 5).

There are two phases in contact allergy. The sensitization phase is when the hapten binds to the protein(s) of the skin and forms antigen. The antigens are then taken up by antigen-presenting cells called Langerhans cells and are transported to the nearby lymph nodes. In the lymph node, the Langerhans cells are presented to the uncommitted T-cells, which become activated. Activated T-cells release cytokines, which lead to proliferation and differentiation of the T-cells to make them specific memory cells of the hapten. The sensitization phase may take 4 days to several weeks to develop. The second phase is the elicitation phase, which occurs when the individual is re-exposed to the hapten. Here, the Langerhans cells present the antigen to the hapten-specific memory T-cells. The memory T-cells become activated and start to proliferate, and a cascade of inflammatory events develops in the area of skin that has been exposed. The inflammation then causes an eczematous reaction, which develops 18–48 hours after exposure to the allergen (1). Some substances have a longer elicitation phase—up to 2–3 weeks (6-9).

Contact allergy is a lifelong condition. If the sensitized individual avoids contact with the allergen or to chemically related substances, he/she will not develop ACD.

1.2 Patch testing

Patch testing is the method used to diagnose contact allergy. It was first established by Jadassohn more than 100 years ago. The method was described by Bloch in 1929 (10). Patients with a history of dermatitis can be patch tested and re-exposed to the suspected allergen under controlled conditions (Figure 1). The patch testing method is continuously being developed and standardized with regard to allergens, vehicles, concentrations, doses, and scoring (11-15).

Patch testing is performed by evenly distributing allergens in suitable vehicles and concentrations in test chambers, which are then applied to the back of the patient for 48 hours. When reading the patch test reactions, they are scored according to the International Contact Dermatitis Research Group (ICDRG) criteria: (+), doubtful reaction; +, weak positive reaction; ++, strong positive reaction; and +++, extreme positive reaction (15). Readings of the patch test reactions on day (D) 3/4 and D7 are recommended, as they have been shown to be most accurate (16).

Late patch test reactions are reactions that appear at the site of the patch test later than D7 (15). Possible explanations for late patch test reactions are a low test concentration, that the patient has low reactivity, or slow penetration of the allergen. Late reactions can also be a sign of active sensitization.

Active sensitization is an unfavorable effect of patch testing, which is generally defined as being when a previously negative patch test has a flare-up reaction appearing after 10–20 days and where a positive reaction on D3 is seen on retesting (14). Some sensitized patients can react to lower concentrations of the allergen after D7 (6, 7), so it is recommended that the patient should be patch tested with serial dilutions of the allergen when there is a suspicion of active sensitization (13).

False-positive reactions are (by definition) caused by irritation and have a similar morphology to a contact allergic reaction (15). In order to investigate if the substance causes false-positive reactions it is recommended that the substance is tested in serial dilutions. Patch testing in controls can give further evidence of the nature of the reaction (14).

False-negative reactions are defined as failing to induce a positive patch test reaction in a contact allergic patient (15). It is important to test with an adequate dose, a stable substance in the vehicle of choice, and an evenly distributed substance in order to minimize the occurrence of false-negative reactions. If the substance is

tested in an unsuitable vehicle or test chamber, it can sometimes change into a nonsensitizing substance (17, 18).



Figure 1. Applied patch test.

1.3 Isocyanates

Isocyanates are chemical compounds that are reactive and contain -N = C = O groups. They can be monoisocyanates, diisocyanates, or polyisocyanates depending on how many -NCO groups there are in the molecule. Isocyanates are either aromatic or aliphatic. Due to their high reactivity, they react with compounds such as water, alcohols, amines, and thiols. Diisocyanates and polyisocyanates are used in the plastic industry in the production of polyurethanes (PURs). PUR is produced by reacting the specific isocyanate with polyols. Polyols are either hydroxyl-terminated polyethers or polyesters (19). The number of reactive hydroxyl groups per polyol molecule can determine the mechanical properties of the polymer. In the production of polyurethanes, additives are used to control the reactions or to obtain the desired properties in the finished product. These additives can be catalysts (amines), pigments, flame retardants, and blowing agents that produce polyurethane foams. A wide range of products can be obtained, such as flexible and rigid foams, coatings, adhesives, elastomers, sealants, and lacquers. The general reactions in the production of PUR are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2.

General reaction of isocyanates. Upper reaction: combination of an isocyanate with alcohol to form a urethane. Lower reaction: propylene glycol reacts with diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate to form polyurethane.

The diisocyanates that are used in the production of PURs are generally aromatic, of low molecular weight, volatile, and are highly reactive. The main isocyanates produced are toluene diisocyanate (TDI) and diphenylmethane diisocyanate (MDI) (20). MDI usually replaces the use of TDI due to the volatility of the latter, which constitutes a respiratory health hazard. MDI and TDI are aromatic diisocyanates and are used in the production of for example foams, adhesives, coatings, and elastomers (21). Aliphatic isocyanates are more expensive to produce than MDI and TDI. Examples of aliphatic isocyanates are isophorone diisocyanate (IPDI) and hexamethylene diisocyanate (HDI) (22). The global annual production of isocyanates is expected to reach 12×10^6 tons in 2020 (23).

To alter the reactivity of the isocyanate groups or to minimize the vapor emission of isocyanates in solution, they are often used in a prepolymerized form. In order to polymerize isocyanates, di- or polyfunctional alcohols in small quantities are mixed together with an excess of isocyanates. This process replaces the volatile monomers with isocyanates of higher molecular weight (20). Aromatic isocyanates are more reactive than aliphatic isocyanates. This is because of the structure of an aromatic isocyanate. The aromatic benzene ring is electron-drawing, which results in drawing of the negative charge of the nitrogen—making the carbon positively charged and therefore reactive. This is why most of the reactions take place across the C = N bond (24).

In industry, technical-grade isocyanates are used. Technical-grade means that it is a product that contains a mixture of isomers of isocyanates. The isomers can be monomers or oligomers i.e. diisocyanates or isocyanates with several –NCO groups. The oligomers are also called polyisocyanates.

In the literature describing contact allergy to isocyanates, it is not uncommon that only a general abbreviation such as MDI or TDI is given for the isocyanate and it is not specified whether the patient has come in contact with technical-grade products—and in that case, what different isomers and oligomers he/she has been exposed to. However, only one isomer of each isocyanate is present in the commercial patch test preparations that patients are tested with (Table 1).

Table 1.

Commercial isocyanate and amine patch test preparations from Chemotechnique Diagnostics

Isophorone diisocyanate	1.0% in pet.
Toluene-2,4- diisocyanate	2.0% in pet.
Isophorone diamine	0.1% in pet.
Hexamethylene diisocyanate	0.1% in pet.
Diamino-4,4'-dicyclohexylmethane	0.5% in pet.
Dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate	1.0% in pet.
Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diamine	0.5% in pet.
Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate	0.5% in pet.
Polymeric diphenylmethane disisocyanate	2.0% in pet.

From here on, when a general abbreviation (MDI, TDI, IPDI, or HDI) is used in this thesis, it denotes all isomers of the diisocyanates, respectively.

1.3.1 Exposure to isocyanates

Exposure to isocyanates is more of an occupational problem than a consumer problem. It is estimated that 280,000 workers are exposed to isocyanates in the United States alone (25). However, exposure to isocyanates in domestic settings has also been reported (24, 26-30). The main route of exposure is assumed to be by inhalation. Isocyanates that have high vapor pressure, such as TDI, can be airborne at room temperature. Other isocyanates such as MDI are only volatile when heated (31). Thermal degradation in PUR products when heated to temperatures over 150°C leads to dissociation of PURs into a mixture of isocyanates, amines, and aminoisocyanates (32). Industrial processes that can cause exposure to isocyanates are, for example, spraying or heating. Aircraft painters and auto repair shop workers can be exposed to high doses and have a high risk of developing respiratory diseases (33, 34).

1.3.2 Respiratory and carcinogenic effects

Inhalation of isocyanates can cause disorders of the respiratory tract. Isocyanates are well known to cause direct toxic and irritant effects, such as irritation of the nose, throat, and upper airways—as well as eye and skin irritation (35, 36). Their effects on the respiratory tract have been extensively described (21, 37, 38). Exposure to high concentrations of isocyanates have been reported to cause reactive airway dysfunction syndrome (RADS) and intestinal obstruction (39, 40). An association of isocyanates with occupational rhinitis and asthma has recently been

described (41). Acute exposure to high levels of isocyanates can cause respiratory sensitization, but low levels of isocyanate exposure can also have adverse health effects on the upper airways, intestinal tract, and skin (42). The mechanism behind isocyanate-induced asthma is yet not fully understood. Animal and human studies have been performed and have found both immunological and non-immunological mechanisms (38, 43). There is evidence from animal studies that isocyanates cause skin sensitization and sensitization of the lung (44-46). This was also described later in humans (47-50).

Based on animal studies, TDI and MDI have been proposed to be carcinogenic. However, only TDI is classified as being carcinogenic in humans (51, 52). On the other hand, the amines diphenylmethane diamine (MDA) and 2,4-toluene diamine (2,4-TDA), corresponding to the above-mentioned isocyanates, have been shown to be carcinogenic in animals (53, 54). In Sweden, a special licence, issued by the authorities, is needed in order to be allowed to use or even store MDA and 2,4-TDA (55).

1.3.3 Contact allergy to isocyanates

In the commercial isocyanate patch test series, only specific isomers are included. However, the technical grade of each isocyanate contains a mixture of isomers of the isocyanate in question as well as larger oligomers and their respective isomers. Since the isocyanate group is extremely reactive and readily reacts with skin proteins, this—in theory—makes isocyanates strong contact allergens. Skin sensitization to isocyanates has not been investigated as thoroughly as sensitization of the respiratory tract. Thus, there have been few reports of contact allergy to isocyanates. Perhaps the strict regulations regarding isocyanates to prevent respiratory disorders could be a contributory factor that can reduce isocyanate skin contamination (56). Due the reactivity of isocyanates, it has been suggested that they react before penetrating the skin, i.e. with water or proteins on the surface of the skin, making them less allergenic and therefore not sensitizing (57). Other plausible explanations have been suggested for the low rate of contact allergy cases, such as insufficient diagnosis by patch testing due to inaccurate concentrations of patch test allergens or not reading the test after D7 (9, 12, 58-60).

In those cases that have been described in the literature, there are often concurrent reactions between different isocyanates and their different corresponding amines. It is not always evident whether the concurrent reactions are due to co-exposure or possible cross-reactivity. Allergic reactions to the aromatic isocyanate MDI and the aliphatic isocyanate DMDI have been reported. DMDI has been found to be a strong dermal sensitizer (61-66). Simultaneous reactions to 4,4'-DMDI and the corresponding amine 4,4'-DMDA, and to the aromatic amine 4,4'-MDA have been reported (62). Patients sensitized to 4,4'-DMDI were also found to have positive

reactions to 1,6-HDI and IPDI. These patients had had no previous contact with the aforementioned isocyanates (62). A similar pattern has been described by Militello et al. in two patients who were exposed to MDI and DMDI, but who also showed positive reactions to TDI, IPDI, and HDI (28).

Cross-reactivity has been studied by Thorne et al. using the mouse ear-swelling test (MEST), and showed cross-reactivity between MDI, TDI, HDI, and DMDI (67). The capacity of sensitization of the isocyanates was also investigated and was found to be the following (in declining order): HDI > DMDI > MDI > TDI (67).

The sensitizing capacity and cross-reactivity of a selection of isocyanates will be discussed further in the context of papers III and IV. 2,4-TDI has been shown to be a strong sensitizer when investigated with the local lymph node assay (LLNA) (68), and has also been found to cause active sensitization in humans following patch testing with 1% 2,4-TDI in pet. (69)

In the literature, concurrent reactions have also been seen between MDI and MDA (25, 28, 58, 62, 70-75). In workers exposed to MDI, positive patch test reactions to MDA and negative reactions to MDI have been described in many reports (25, 58, 62, 70, 76-78). This pattern may be explained by the instability of the MDI patch test preparations. The patch test preparations that have been used have not been stable, and might therefore have failed to diagnose contact allergy to MDI. MDA has been proposed to be a marker for MDI allergy, since MDA is formed once MDI reacts with water. However, the conversion of 4,4'-MDI into 4,4'-MDA by reaction with water is probably not the explanation for the concomitant reactions. Instead, a suggested explanation is that several reactions occur, leading to MDI conjugates and urea reacting with skin constituents, which then hydrolyze into 4,4'-MDA. These reaction events take longer to process, which might explain the late MDI reactions (i.e. after D7) (9).

Isocyanates have also been reported to cause other skin disorders, namely irritant contact dermatitis and urticaria (79-81).

1.3.4 Sensitization and cross-reactivity

The sensitizing capacity of a chemical can be determined using animal testing. There are many different animal testing methods such as the Buhler test, the guinea pig maximization test (GPMT), the mouse ear-swelling test (MEST), and the local lymph node assay (LLNA). *In vitro* assays such as direct peptide-reactive assay (DPRA) can also be used. Human testing—such as human repeated insult patch testing (HRIPT) — exists but it is not part of any official test guideline, since it is considered to be unethical (82). The GPMT is a standardized method that is used for determination of limits and cross-reactivity between chemicals.

The term cross-reactivity refers to when an individual initially sensitized to one chemically defined substance (A) reacts to a second chemically defined substance (B) that he or she has not been in previous contact with. The first compound is the primary sensitizer and the other is the secondary sensitizer (83). Cross-reactivity can occur because A and B are structurally similar, or because A is metabolized to a compound that is similar to B and vice versa, or because A and B are both metabolized into similar compounds (84). Cross-reactivity does not have to go in both directions; thus, if A is a primary sensitizer giving rise to a cross-reaction to the secondary sensitizer B, this does not automatically mean that a primary sensitization to B also gives rise to a cross-reaction to A (85).

2 Aims

- To study of the dermal uptake and metabolism of isocyanates by dermal provocation (papers I and II).
- To investigate the sensitizing capacities and cross-reactivity patterns of some common isocyanates and the corresponding amines in order to provide a better understanding of isocyanate contact allergy (papers III, IV, and V).
- To investigate the cause behind the rapid decrease in the concentration of 4,4'-MDI in patch test preparations (paper VI).

3 Materials and methods

3.1 Chemical structures of the isocyanates and amines investigated

Table 2. All the substances investigated are listed together with some common synonyms, their CAS number, their classification according to the CLP regulation^{ss}, their log P_{o/W}, and the purity of each investigated substance as stated by the manufacturer

Name ^s	Synonyms	CAS no.	Structure	Harmonized classification ^{§§}	log P _{oW}	MW	Swedish work environment authority limits	IARC classification
				Class and category code				
Diphenylmethane-4,4'- diisocyanate	4,4'-MDI; 4,4'- Discocyanatodiphenylmethane; 4,4'-Methylenebis(phenyl iscocyanate) 4,4'- Methylenediphenyl diisocyanate	101-68- 8	OOM NCO	Skin Sens. 1 Resp. Sens. 1 Carc. 2	5.22	250	0.03 mg/m³	Group 3 Not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans
Diphenylmethane-4,4'- diamine	4,4'-MDA; 4,4'- Methylenedianiline; 4,4'- Dimethylenedianine; 4,4'- Diaminodiphenyl methane.	101-77- 9	H1 ²	Carc. 1B Muťa. 2 Skin Sens. 1	1.59	198	Carcenogenic. Special approval required.	Group 2B Possibly carcinogenic to humans
Dicyclohexylmethane- 4,4'-diisocyanate	4,4'-DMDI; 4,4'-HMDI; Methylene bis(4-xyclohexyliscoyanate); 4,4'-Methylenedicyclohexyl diisocyanate, Hydrogenated MDI.	5124- 30-1	ocn	Resp. Sens. 1 Skin Sens. 1	6.11	262	2 mg/m³	Not classified
Dicyclohexylmethane- 4,4'-diamine	4,4'-DMDA; 4,4'-HMDA; 4,4'- Diaminodicyclohexylmethane; 4,4'- Methylenebis(cyclohexylamine),	1761- 71-3	HzN	Skin Sens. 1	3.26	210		Not classified
<i>p</i> -Phenylenediamine	PPD: 1,4-diaminobenzene; benzene-1,4-diamine; para- phenylenediamine.	106-50- 3	² HN ² HN	Skin Sens. 1	0.43	108	-	Group 3 Not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans
Toluene-2,4- diisocyanate	2.4-TDI; 4-methyl-m-phenylene disocyanate: 2.4-diisocyanato-1- methylbenzene.	584-84- 9	NCO	Skin Sens. 1 Resp. Sens. 1 Carc. 2	3.74	174	0.014 mg/m³	Group 2B Possibly carcinogenic to humans
[§] Name as used in this t	s Name as used in this thesis; ss Classification as found in Annex VI of R	in Annex VI	Name as used in this thesis; St Classification as found in Annex VI of Regulation (EC) No. 1272/2008 on the classification, labeling, and packaging of substances and mixtures	e classification, lat	beling, a	nd packa	ging of substance	es and mixtures

(CLP Regulation). International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC).

3.2 Studies I and II

3.2.1 Subjects

In study I, we included two volunteers (healthy women aged 19 and 35 years; volunteers 1 and 2) with no previous history of contact allergy to isocyanates or any respiratory symptoms that could be related to isocyanates. The original exposures and the investigation of the suspected sensitization were carried out at the Department of Occupational and Environmental Dermatology, Malmö. This study was performed in 2010 (86). In study II, a 47-year-old woman and a 54-year-old man (volunteers 3 and 4) were dermally exposed in 2012. Volunteers 3 and 4 were diagnosed as having contact allergy to 4,4'-MDI before the second part of the study.

3.2.2 Dermal provocation

The cutaneous exposure doses, areas, and amounts of 4,4'-MDI preparations in 2% petrolatum are presented in Table 3. 4,4'-MDI in 2% petrolatum was applied to filter papers, which were placed on the outer aspect of the upper arms of each volunteer. The filter paper was covered with aluminium foil and then secured with Scanpor tape. The exposure time was 8 hours (Figure 3). The surface concentration of 4,4'-MDI was approximately 0.8 mg/cm² for all volunteers. Different doses were obtained by altering the area of exposure, i.e. the size of the filter paper used for application. Volunteers 3 and 4 were exposed by applying duplicate 31 cm² filter papers, one on each arm.

Table 3.

Volunteer	Exposure dose of 4,4'-MDI in pet., mg	Exposure area, cm ²	Amount of preparation (2% 4,4'-MDI in pet.), mg
1	10	12.5	500
2	25	31	1,250
3	49	62	2,400
4	50	62	2,500

Provocation concentrations of 4,4'-MDI, exposure areas, and amounts of 4,4'-MDI in 2% petrolatum (pet.)



Figure 3.

Dermal exposure. Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate in petrolatum was applied on filter paper, which was covered with aluminium foil and later secured with Scanpor tape.

The removed filter paper with its aluminium foil backing and the contaminated compresses from the exposed volunteers were placed in glass flasks, one for each volunteer, containing di-n-butylamine (DBA) in methylene chloride and toluene.

3.2.3 Tape-stripping

Tape-stripping was performed in study II. After removal of the filter paper and after any excess petrolatum preparation had been wiped off, 10 cm^2 of the exposed skin area was tape-stripped using a set of 20 tape strips ($2.5 \times 4 \text{ cm}$) (Figure 4). This was done on both arms of volunteers 3 and 4, 1 set on the right arm and 1 set on the left. Tape-stripping was not performed on volunteers 1 and 2. The tape-strip technique has been described in detail elsewhere (87). The set of tape strips from the right arm was intended for measurement of 4,4'-MDI levels. Each of these tape strips was placed in a glass test tube containing DBA in methylene chloride and toluene.



Figure 4. Tape-stripping of the area exposed to diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate.

3.2.4 Patch test concentrations

In study I, patch testing was performed on volunteers 1 and 2 due to suspicion of sensitization. They were patch tested with petrolatum preparations of 4,4'-MDI, 4,4'-MDA, PPD, and 4,4'-DMDI. The patch test concentrations of the dilution series of the substances were made equimolar. The dilution series were based on the factor $\sqrt{10}$. The patch test concentrations are given in Table 4. 20 mg of each preparation was applied on Finn Chambers (8 mm; Allerderm, Phoenix, AZ, USA) on Scanpor (Norgesplaster A/S, Vennesla, Norway). The tests were applied to the upper part of the back for 48 hours and then discarded. The tests were read by a dermatologist on D3 or D4 and also on D7 and D10.

4,4'-MDI % (w/w)	4,4'-MDA % (w/w)	PPD % (w/w)	4,4′-DMDI % (w/w)
0.20	0.16	0.091	0.17
0.063	0.050	*	*
0.020	0.016	*	*
*	0.0050	*	*
*	0.0020	*	*

 Table 4.

 Equimolar patch test concentrations of dilution series in petrolatum for patients 1 and 2

*Not tested.

3.2.5 Urine and plasma samples

All 4 volunteers had plasma and urine samples taken just before the dermal exposure, and full urine collections were done over 48 hours from the start of the exposure. The volunteers were issued with urine flasks to be labeled with the time and date of each collection. Five plasma samples were drawn from each volunteer and sent (together with the urine samples) to the Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine in Lund for chemical analysis.

3.2.6 Chemical investigation, workup procedure and sampling

In study I, the provocation materials were removed and all excess petrolatum was wiped off using compresses soaked in acetone. The materials removed from the volunteers' arms were then placed in an impinger flask containing DBA in methylene chloride and toluene. Samples of the 4,4'-MDI preparations that were used in the dermal provocation were also treated in the same reagent solutions in impinger flasks. To each impinger sample, an aliquot of 4,4'-MDI-D₉DBA was added as internal standard. The samples of petrolatum preparations and removed materials were analyzed using high-performance liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (HPLC-MS). A detailed description of the HPLC-MS method can be found in paper I. Chemical analysis was performed at the Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Örebro University Hospital, Örebro.

Analysis of 4,4'-MDI in excess petrolatum preparation and tape strips in study II

The samples of 4,4'-MDI recovered from the skin and the tape-strip sets on the right arms of volunteers 3 and 4 were analyzed using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS). 4,4'-MDI was derivatized and measured in the form of its stable reaction product with DBA. The method was identical to the method used in paper I.

Analysis of urine and plasma samples for systemically distributed 4,4'-MDI – Studies I and II

The dermal uptake of 4,4'-MDI was determined by measurement of 4,4'-MDA in hydrolyzed urine and plasma. The 4,4'-MDA levels in the hydrolyzed urine and plasma samples were analyzed according to Sennbro et al. (88). Briefly, the biological samples were hydrolyzed in sodium hydroxide in order to release the 4,4'-MDI-corresponding amine 4,4'-MDA, which was extracted with toluene. After derivatization with pentafluoropropionic acid anhydride, the derivatives were quantified by gas chromatography and mass spectrometry (GCMS). This method detects 4,4'-MDI that has reacted with the cell components, and also 4,4'-MDA if present in the sample. The chemical analysis was performed at the Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Skåne University Hospital, Lund.

3.3 Studies III, IV, and V

3.3.1 Guinea pig maximization test

In studies III and V, the GPMT was performed according to the original description (89). However, in order to standardize the test and objectify the evaluation of the patch test reactions, some modifications in accordance with those proposed by Bruze in 1985 were used (90). These modifications included statistical calculations, blind readings, and use of a positive control group (90, 91).

In the method proposed by Bruze, all animals are given the same degree of inflammation by treating them all with the same dose of sodium lauryl sulfate (SLS). The test substance is then tested with the highest possible concentration that does not elicit irritant reactions. Before sensitization and cross-reactivity patterns can be assessed, the topical irritancy thresholds must therefore be determined, in order to ensure that the test concentrations chosen do not give rise to irritant reactions. This was performed by applying different concentrations of each of the investigated substances intended for induction, as a closed patch test for 2 days, on both the neck and the flank of one side of 4 animals. All animals were pretreated with Freund's complete adjuvant (FCA). In order to maximize the number of test concentrations that could be evaluated, the animals were tested first on one side of the body and then on the other side. Concentrations that did not cause irritation were chosen for topical induction and elicitation.

The investigation of sensitizing capacity and cross-reactivity of the selected suspected allergens (Tables 7 and 8 in section 4.2) was performed by inducing the guinea pigs with the suspected allergen. For each sensitization series, 24 test animals, 12 controls, and 6 positive controls were used (Figure 5). The induction and challenge procedure is described in detail in papers III and IV.
3.3.2 Analysis of 4,4'-MDI in FCA/paraffin oil

Gel permeation chromatography (GPC)

Analysis of 4,4'-MDI was carried out using gel permeation chromatography, which is a type of size exclusion chromatography (SEC). The identity of each analyte is determined by a specific peak, which is identified by a certain retention time and its UV spectrum. The detector was set at a wavelength of 238 nm for the detection of 4,4'-MDI. A detailed description of the method can be found in paper V.

In paper V, chemical analyses were performed in order to determine (1) the effect that the age of the 4,4'-MDI might impose on the sensitization rate in the GMPT, and (2) whether the reaction between 4,4'-MDI and FCA might affect the GMPT outcome.

Two preparations of 4,4'-MDI in a vehicle consisting of FCA and paraffin oil were prepared. One was placed in a refrigerator and one was stored at room temperature. 4,4'-MDI was first dissolved in FCA and then diluted further in paraffin oil to the intended concentration, i.e. 1.0% (w/v) 4,4'-MDI in FCA/paraffin oil. Samples were taken from each emulsion at 0, 2, 4, 6, 24, and 48 hours. Double samples were dissolved in dichloromethane and analyzed in triplicate with GPC.

Batches of 4,4'-MDI

Three different batches of 4,4'-MDI were analyzed to determine the concentration of 4,4'-MDI found in each package. One package of 4,4'-MDI was new and was used as reference substance. The second was 4.5 months old, and the third was 3 years and 8 months old. All batches of 4,4'-MDI had been stored in the freezer. Samples of 4,4'-MDI flakes were mixed with dichloromethane to prepare a solution with an intended concentration of 1.0% (w/v). The solutions were filtered when required. The samples were diluted 100 times and analyzed with GPC.

3.3.3 Statistics

The proportion of positive animals in the test group was compared with the proportion of positive animals in the control group. In the animals challenged with the induction substance on both the cranial and caudal patches (12 test animals and 6 negative control animals) (Figure 5), only one of the patches—chosen in advance—was included.

Statistical significance for the sensitizing capacity and cross-reactivity was calculated with Fisher's exact test (one-sided). When significant values (p<0.05) were obtained with Fisher's exact test, the compound was considered to be a sensitizer or to show cross-reactivity to other compounds based upon set criteria (p<0.001, strong; p<0.01, moderate; p<0.05, weak).



Figure 5. General scheme of the sensitization and induction process. D, day, FCA, Freund's complete adjuvant; 2-MP, 2-methylol phenol; DAE, dimethyl acetamide/acetone/ethanol; H₂O, water; SLS, sodium lauryl sulfate.

3.4 Study VI

3.4.1 Chemical investigation of 4,4'-MDI in petrolatum

Gel permeation chromatography (GPC)

The chemical analysis of the 4,4'-MDI preparations was the same as used in study V (section 3.3.2), except that the flow rate was 2 ml/min.

Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy

To determine the identity of substances present in the 4,4'-MDI petrolatum preparations, proton and carbon nuclear magnetic resonance spectra were recorded using nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy. This is an analysis technique that investigates the magnetic properties of atomic nuclei based on chemical and physical properties, such as structure and the individual functional groups. The analyses were performed at the Institution of Biomedical Sciences, Malmö University, Malmö.

Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy

For analysis of the synthesized trimer, FTIR spectroscopy was used. FTIR is a technique that obtains infrared spectra of solids, liquids, or gases. Different organic functional groups produce different spectra.

Sample preparation

From a syringe containing 4,4'-MDI test preparation at 0.5% in petrolatum, 4 g was accurately weighed and mixed with water. After mixing, the mixed petrolatum preparation was transferred to a new syringe. Likewise, from another syringe containing 4,4'-MDI test preparation at 0.5% in petrolatum, 4 g was accurately weighed and mixed with water and acetone. Another mixture with ethanol was made in a manner similar to that for the other mixtures. After mixing, the mixed petrolatum preparation was transferred to a new syringe.

For GPC analysis of the concentration of MDI in the test syringes with added water, about 20 mg test preparation was dissolved in 5 ml dichloromethane. As an internal standard for the GPC analysis, acetone was added. The test preparations were analyzed in duplicate before addition of water, then 15, 30, 45, and 60 minutes after addition of water, and thereafter duplicate samples were taken on a daily basis—over 17 days for the 4,4'-MDI water and acetone mixture and over 25 days for the 4,4'-MDI and water mixture. The 4,4'-MDI and ethanol mixture was followed for 60 minutes due to the rapid reaction.

Dimer/trimer synthesis

A synthetic method was developed at our department. This synthesis was done by mixing 2% 4,4'-MDI in acetone with trimethylamine, which served as catalyst. The product crystallized within 24 hours. The solution was then vacuum-filtered, washed with acetone, and dried under vacuum. The crystals were later transferred to a test tube with a screw cap. The test tube was filled with nitrogen and stored in a -20° C freezer. From here on, this substance is referred to as reaction product T1. Another synthesis was done according to the original description by Zhang et al., which is referred to as T2 from hereon (92). In the synthesis of T2, toluene was used as a solvent and 2,4,6-tris(dimethylaminomethyl)-phenol was used as a catalyst. This product was filtered and treated in the same way as T1.

Extraction of old MDI syringes

Three preparations of 4,4'-MDI in petrolatum of different age (Table 5) were dissolved in heptane and then extracted with DMSO using a separation funnel. The DMSO phases were washed several times with heptane until clear solutions were obtained. The filtered DMSO phases were then analyzed.

 Table 5.

 Aged 4,4'-MDI preparations

Preparation	Amount of petrolatum	Age at analysis
0.5% MDI (Chemotechnique)	4.2 g	2.0 years
2.0% MDI (in-house)	2.1 g	6.6 years
2.0% MDI (in-house)	7.6 g	2.0 years

3.5 Ethics

Studies I and II were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of Umeå University, Sweden. The volunteers gave written informed consent to participate in the study.

Studies III and V were approved by the Lund Ethical Committee on Animal Experimentation, Lund, Sweden.

4 Results

4.1 Studies I and II

Study I

Of the total amount of 4,4'-MDI applied during the dermal uptake study, 7.0 (70%) and 17.5 mg (70%) were recovered, i.e. 10.0 mg and 25.0 mg respectively. Seven to 10 days after this study, an itchy eczema appeared corresponding to the area of application on both volunteers. The concentration of 4,4'-MDI in petrolatum preparations was verified and was found to be 1.9% (w/w). Results from patch testing with 4,4'-MDI, 4,4'-MDA, PPD, and 4,4'-DMDI are given in Table 6.

Table 6.

Patch test results to diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate (4,4'-MDI), diphenylmethane-4,4'-diamine (4,4'-MDA), pphenylenediamine (PPD), and dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate (4,4'-DMDI) at a dilution series in petrolatum in the 2 volunteers with reading on D3 (or D4), D7, and D10

Substance,	Volunteer 1			Volunteer	Volunteer 2		
% (w/w)	D3/4	D7	D10	D3/4	D7	D10	
4,4'-MDI							
0.20	-	-	-	-	++	-	
0.063	-	-	-	-	++	-	
0.020	-	-	-	-	-	-	
4,4'-MDA							
0.16	++	++	++	+++	++	+	
0.05	++	++	+	++	++	+	
0.016	-	-	+	-	+	+	
0.005	-	-	-	-	-	-	
0.002	-	-	-	-	-	-	
PPD							
0.091	-	-	-	-	-	-	
4,4'-DMDI							
0.17	-	-	-	-	-	-	

Study II

The amounts of unreacted and unabsorbed 4,4'-MDI in the excess 4,4'-MDI petrolatum preparation recovered was 7.0 and 17.5 mg for volunteers 1 and 2, respectively, which represents 70% of the dose applied to each volunteer. During transportation for analysis, one sample got crushed and the solvent wiped off the marking of the other 3 samples, leaving them unidentified. Three out of the 4 samples from volunteers 3 and 4 contained 5.2, 9.0, and 11.3 mg of 4,4'-MDI. By considering all possible combinations of these unmarked samples, the average value of unabsorbed 4,4'-MDI in the three samples analyzed was calculated to be $35\% \pm 4\%$ of the dose applied.

In hydrolyzed plasma, the concentration of 4,4'-MDA did not rise from the baseline concentration for volunteer 1, but had a maximum concentration (after approximately 8 hours of exposure) of 0.18 ng/ml, 0.22 ng/ml, and 0.20 ng/ml for volunteers 2, 3, and 4, respectively. In hydrolyzed urine, the concentration of 4,4'-MDA did not rise for volunteer 1 but had a maximum concentration (after 10–14 hours of exposure) of 1.4 ng/ml, 2.0 ng/ml, and 4.3 ng/ml for volunteers 2, 3, and 4, respectively. The results are shown in Figures 6 and 7.

The total amount of 4,4'-MDI found in the skin layers removed with tape strips was 21.14 μ g and 6.64 μ g for volunteers 3 and 4, respectively. Data for each tape-strip layer are given in Figure 8.





Figure 6. Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diamine concentrations in plasma. The dermal exposure doses were 10 mg (V1), 25 mg (V2), 49 mg (V3), and 50 mg (V4) diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate. V, volunteer.



4,4'-MDA in urine

Figure 7. Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diamine concentrations in urine. The dermal exposure doses were 10 mg (V1), 25 mg (V2), 49 mg (V3), and 50 mg (V4) diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate. V, volunteer.



Figure 8. Amounts of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate found on tape strips. The dermal exposure doses for the tape-stripped areas (10 cm²) were 8 mg diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate for V3 and V4. V, volunteer.

4.2 Studies III and IV

Eight different sensitization series were performed on different occasions with the same method during a period stretching from May 2013 to September 2015. The results regarding sensitization and cross-reactivity patterns for each of these series are given in Tables 7 and 8. In all sensitization series, at least 4 of the positive control animals showed positive reactions, indicating that the method was functioning well without negative influences due to, for example, sick animals or adjuvant with impaired effect.

Sensitizing capacity

4,4'-MDI was used as induction substance on three different occasions. On the first and last occasions, it was found to be a sensitizer (p<0.001 and p=0.024, respectively) but on the second occasion the induction failed (p = 0.19) (Table 7). 4,4'-MDA, 4,4'-DMDI, and 4,4'-DMDA were found to be potent sensitizers (p < 0.001, p < 0.001, and p < 0.001, respectively).

PPD was found to be a strong sensitizer (p < 0.001). The sensitizing capacity of 2,4-TDI (p = 0.22) was based on 16 animals, since 8 animals had to be sacrificed due to oozing wounds at the intradermal injection site (Table 8). Their capacity to dry and form crusts deviated from what was considered acceptable in the ethical approval. Table 7. Summary of the sensitization and cross-reactivity rates of diphenylmethane-4.4'-diisocyanate, dicyclohexylmethane-4.4'-diisocyanate, and their corresponding amines diamino-4.4'-diphenylmethane and diamino-4.4'-dicyclohexylmethane using the guinea pig maximization test

	Sensitization series A	Sensitization series B	n series B	Sensitization series C	Sensitization series D	Sensitization series E	Sensitization series F
Induction Sensitizing substance Intradermal	Diphenylmethane 4, 4'- diisocyanate (4, 4'-MDI) 1.0% p.o. (40 mM)	Diamino-4,4'- diphenylmethane (4,4'- MDA) 0 79 n 0.40 mM)	 hane (4,4'- mM)	Dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'- diisocyanate (4,-DMDI) 1.0% po (40 mM)	Diamino-4,4'- dicyclohexylmethane (4,4'- DMDA) 0.84 or (40 mM)	Diphenylmethane-4,4'- diisocyanate (4,4-MDI)	Diphenylmethane 4,4'- diisocyanate (4,4'-MDI) 1.0% p.o (40 mM)
Epideriniai	1.0% dC (40 IIIIN)	0.79% EtOH (40 mM)	l (40 mM)	1.0% ac (40 IIINI)	0.84% EtOH (40 mM)	1.0% p.0 (40 mW) 1.0% ac (40 mM)	1.0% ac (40 IIIM)
Challenge I	1 0% ac (40 mM)	0 79% EtOH (40 mM)	1 (40 mM)	063% ac /24 mM)	0 84% EtOH (40 mM)	1 0% ac (40 mM)	1 0% ac (40 mM)
	C = 1/12	C = 0/12		C = 0/12	C = 1/12	C = 3/12	C = 0/12
	T = 18/24	T = 22/24		T = 21/24	T = 18/24	T = 2/24	T = 8/24
	V = 0/12	V = 3/12		V = 0/12	V = 3/12	V = 0/12	V = 1/12
	Pos = 4/6	Pos = 4/5		Pos = 5/6	Pos = 5/6	Pos = 6/6	Pos = 4/6
	p < 0.001	p < 0.001		p < 0.001	p < 0.001	p = 0.19	p = 0.024
Challenge II							
4.4'-MDI	0.6% ac (24 mM)	1.0% ac (40 mM)	(Mm	1.0% ac (40 mM)	1.0% ac (40 mM)	1.0% ac (40 mM)	1.0% ac (40 mM)
	C = 1/12	C = 3/12		C = 0/12	C = 0/12	C = 2/12	C = 0/12
	T = 7/24	T = 3/24		T = 1/24	T = 3/24	T = 5/24	T = 9/24
	p = 0.16	p = 0.31		p = 0.67	p = 0.28	p = 0.57	P = 0.0139
4.4'-MDA	0.48% EtOH (24 mM)	NT		0.79% EtOH (40 mM)	0.79% EtOH (40 mM)	0.79% EtOH (40 mM)	0.79% EtOH (40 mM)
	C = 2/12			C = 1/12	C = 4/12	C = 4/12	C = 2/12
	T = 13/24			T = 6/24	T = 13/24	T = 13/24	T = 21/24
	P = 0.034			p = 0.23	p = 0.21	p = 0.21	p < 0.001
4.4'-DMDI	0.63% ac (24 mM)	0.63% Ac	1.0% Ac	1.0% ac (40 mM)	1.0% ac (40 mM)	1.0% ac (40 mM)	1.0% ac (40 mM)
	C = 0/12	(24 mM)	(40 mM)	C = 02/12	C = 3/12	C = 5/12	C = 4/12
	T = 5/24	C = 4/12	C = 3/12	T = 23/24	T = 11/24	T = 20/24	T = 13/24
	p = 0.11	T = 8/24	T = 12/24	p < 0.001	p = 0.20	p = 0.016	p = 0.21
		p = 0.65	p = 0.14				
4.4'-DMDA	0.50% EtOH (24 mM)	0.84% EtOH (40 mM)	H (40 mM)	0.84% EtOH (40 mM)	0.84% EtOH (40 mM)	0.84% EtOH (40 mM)	0.84% EtOH (40 mM)
	C = 0/12	C = 1/12		C = 1/12	C = 2/12	C = 1/12	C = 2/12
	T = 2/24	T = 13/24		T = 2/24	T = 16/24	T = 1/24	T = 3/24
	p = 0.44	P = 0.0084		p = 0.75	p = 0.0058	p = 0.56	p = 0.55

Table 8. Summary of the sensitization and cross-reactivity rates of diphenylmethane-4.4'-diisocyanate, dicyclohexylmethane-4.4'-diisocyanate, and their corresponding amines diamino-4.4'-diphenylmethane and diamino-4.4'-dicyclohexylmethane using the guinea pig maximization test

	Sensitization series G	Sensitization series H	Sensitization series B	Sensitization series C	Sensitization series D	Sensitization series F
Induction	p-phenylenediamine	Toluene-2.4-diisocyanate	Diamino-4.4'	Dicyclohexylmethane-4.4'-	Dicyclohexylmethane 4.4'-	Diphenylmethane-4.4'-
Intradermal	(DPD)	(2,4-TDI)	diphenylmethane	diisocyanate	diamine	diisocyanate
concentration	0.43% p.g	0.70% p.o	(4.4'-MDA)	(4.4'-DMDI)	(4.4'-DMDA)	(4.4'-MDI)
Epidermal	0.43% EtOH	0.70% ac	0.79 p.q	1.0% p.o	0.84 p.g	1.0% p.o
concentration			0.79% EtOH	1.0% ac	0.84% EtOH	1.0% ac
Challenge I	1.0% ac	1.0% ac	0.79% EtOH (40 mM)	0.63% ac (24 mM)	0.84% EtOH (40 mM)	1.0% ac (40 mM)
concentration	C = 1/12	C = 2/12	C = 0/12	C = 0/12	C = 1/12	C = 0/12
	T = 20/24	T = 6/16	T = 22/24	T = 21/24	T = 18/24	T = 8/24
	V = 0/12	V = 1/4	V = 3/12	V = 0/12	V = 3/12	V = 1/12
	Pos = 5/6	Pos = 5/6	Pos = 4/5	Pos = 5/6	Pos = 5/6	Pos = 4/6
	p < 0.001	p = 0.22	p < 0.001**	p < 0.001**	p < 0.001**	P = 0.024**
Challenge II	0.43% EtOH	0.43% EtOH	0.43% EtOH	0.43% EtOH	0.43% EtOH	0.43% EtOH
DPD	C = 1/12	C = 3/12	C = 1/12	C = 1/12	C = 1/12	C = 1/12
	T = 18/24	T = 1/16	T = 2/24	T = 0/24	T = 0/24	T = 1/24
	p < 0.001	p = 0.20	p > 0.3	p > 0.3	p > 0.3	p > 0.3
2,4-TDI	0.70% ac	0.70% ac	0.70% ac	0.70% ac	0.70% ac	0.70% ac
	C = 0/12	C = 2/12	C = 0/12	C = 4/12	C = 1/12	C = 1/12
	T = 1/24	T = 6/16	T = 3/24	T = 1/24	T = 0/24	T = 2/24
	p > 0.3	p = 0.22	p = 0.28	p > 0.3	p > 0.3	p > 0.3
4.4'-MDI	1.0% ac	1.0% ac				
	C = 2/12	C = 1/12	**	**	**	**
	T = 2/24	T = 2/16				
	p > 0.3	p > 0.3				
4.4'-MDA	0.79% EtOH	0.79% EtOH				
	C = 3/12	C = 5/12	**	*	*	**
	T = 21/24	T = 6/16				
	p < 0.001	p > 0.3				
4.4'-DMDI	1.0% ac	1.0% ac				
	C = 0/12	C = 3/12	**	**	**	**
	T = 2/24	T = 8/16				
	p > 0.3	p = 0.17				
4.4'-DMDA	0.84% EtOH	0.84% EtOH				
	C = 0/12	C = 3/12	*	**	**	**
	T = 6/24	T = 6/16				
	p = 0.070	p > 0.3				
p.o, liquid paraffin; p.g, propylene total); pos. positive control animal	p.o, liquid paraffin; p.g, propylene glycol; EtOl total); pos. positive control animals (6 in total)	EtOH, ethanol; ac, acetor total).	ie; C, control animals ((12 in total); T, test animals (2	4 in total); V, reactions to the	glycol; EtOH, ethanol; ac, acetone; C, control animals (12 in total); T, test animals (24 in total); V, reactions to the vehicle in test animals (12 in s (6 in total).

total); pos, positive control animals (6 in total). ** Presented in Table 7.

Cross-reactivity

The cross-reaction pattern between the substances investigated, when tested in equimolar concentrations, are presented in Figure 9. Animals primarily sensitized to 4,4'-MDI showed cross-reactivity to the secondary sensitizers 4,4'-DMDI and 4,4'-MDA (p=0.016 and p<0.001, respectively) whereas animals primarily sensitized to 4,4'-MDA showed cross-reactivity to 4,4'-DMDA (p=0.0084).

Animals sensitized to PPD showed cross-reactivity to 4,4'-MDA (p<0.001) and there was an indication of cross-reactivity to 4,4'-DMDA (p=0.069). Since 8 animals in the 2,4-TDI induction series (series H, Table 8) were sacrificed, no statistically significant cross-reactivity patterns could be found. However, based on the 16 animals sensitized to 2,4-TDI, there was some indication of cross-reactivity to PPD (p=0.20).



Figure 9.

Summary of cross-reaction patterns in studies III and IV.

A, diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate; B, toluene-2,4-diisocyanate; C, *p*-phenylenediamine; D, diphenylmethane-4,4'-diamine; E, dicylohexylmethane-4,4'-diamine; F, dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate. Some indication of cross-reaction was assumed if 0.05 . Significant cross-reaction was assumed if <math>p < 0.05.

4.3 Study V

In order to investigate the influence of FCA on the stability of 4,4'-MDI, duplicate samples were withdrawn continuously over 48 hours from preparations stored at room temperature and in the refrigerator, and analyzed. The mean concentration of 4,4'-MDI for the duplicate samples was plotted against time. A decline in the concentration of 4,4'-MDI over the 48 hours was seen in preparations stored at room temperature and at 8°C (Figures 10 and 11). As expected, the decrease was more rapid at room temperature, as the concentration of 4,4'-MDI had declined to 0.33% (w/v) after 48 hours while the corresponding concentration in the refrigerator-stored preparation after 48 hours was 0.67% (w/v).



Figure 10. Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate in Freund's complete adjuvant/paraffin oil stored at 8°C.



Figure 11. Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate in Freund's complete adjuvant/paraffin oil stored at room temperature (25°C).

Compared to a fresh and newly opened batch of 4,4-MDI, which was used as reference substance, we found that the 4.5-month-old batch contained 57% (w/w) 4,4'-MDI and the 3.7-year-old batch contained 42% (w/w) 4,4'-MDI (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Concentrations of 4,4'-MDI in different batches.

4.4 Study VI

Results of GPC analysis of petrolatum mixtures

The results of the reaction of 4,4'-MDI in different petrolatum mixtures are presented in Figures 13, 14, and 15. The mixtures were as follows: 0.5% 4,4'-MDI and water in pet., 0.5% 4,4'-MDI and water + acetone in pet., and 0.5% 4,4'-MDI and ethanol in pet.



Figure 13. The concentration of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate in petrolatum mixed with 3 µl water per g, followed for 25 days.



0.5% 4,4'-MDI and water+acetone in petrolatum

Figure 14. The concentration of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate in petrolatum mixed with 3 μ l water and 6 μ l acetone per g, followed for 17 days.



0.5% 4,4'-MDI and ethanol in petrolatum

Figure 15. The concentration of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate in petrolatum mixed with 9 μ l ethanol per g, followed for 60 minutes.

Results of dimer/trimer synthesis

The synthesized trimer matched the trimer described in the original publication by Jing Zhang et al. (92). Using FTIR spectroscopy, the trimer could be distinguished by three characteristic peaks at 1,406, 1,699 and 2,248 cm⁻¹, which were also described earlier (92) (Figure 16). The peak at 2,248 cm⁻¹ is characteristic of aromatic rings, and the peaks at 1,699 and 1,406 cm⁻¹ are characteristic of carbonyl and amide groups and can come from the isocyanurate ring (Figure 17). A peak at 2,340 cm⁻¹ is characteristic of asymmetric stretch of the isocyanate group (93). An absorption at this wavelength can be seen in the FTIR spectrum of 4,4'-MDI. This peak could be seen in the spectrum of substance T2, but the isocyanate peak would be expected to be smaller, and could be present as a broadening of the base of the dominant aromatic peak at 2,248 cm⁻¹.

In general, the FTIR spectrum of synthesized trimer (T2) matched the previously published spectrum (92). The spectrum of the synthesized trimer (T1) showed the same characteristic peaks but contained interfering impurities.



Figure 16. Identification of FTIR spectroscopy peaks of MDI trimer and diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate.



Figure 17. Chemical structure of 4,4'-MDI trimer with ¹³C shifts shown (lower part of the molecule). 1–15 denote the carbon numbers (Table 9).

Results of GPC analysis of aged 4,4'-MDI preparations

The different preparations of aged 4,4'-MDI (Table 5) were analyzed using GPC. The chromatograms were compared with the chromatograms of a reference sample of 4,4'-MDI and the synthesized trimer (T2). The results are shown in Figure 18. In the overlays of the chromatograms from the extract of the 2-year-old 2% 4,4'-MDI preparation and the chromatogram of the synthesized 4,4'-MDI trimer (T2), a similar peak appeared at a retention time of 21 minutes. The peak for the 4,4'-MDI reference had a retention time of 22 minutes.



Figure 18. Synthesized 4,4'-MDI trimer (T2) (tourquoise) and substance extracted from 2-year-old 2% 4,4'-MDI preparation in petrolatum (blue) compared to a fresh reference 4,4'-MDI preparation (brown).

The UV-spectra at 21.3 min of an extract of the aged 4,4'-MDI preparation and of the solution of 4,4'-MDI trimer (T2) are presented in Figure 19. Since DMSO was used as solvent for the chromatography, we had no UV spectrum for wavelengths under 260 nm, which is the UV cutoff for DMSO. The UV spectrum for synthesized 4,4'-MDI trimer (green) had a somewhat narrower peak (with the maximum at 270 nm) than the extracted product, which indicated the presence of other substances that might broaden the peak and shift its maximum by several nm.



Figure 19. UV-spectra of material extracted from a 2-year-old preparation of 2% 4,4'-MDI in petrolatum (blue) and of synthesized 4,4'-MDI trimer (T2) (green).

Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectrometry

NMR spectroscopy of both T1 and T2 was performed and evaluated. The ¹H- and ¹³C-NMR results have been compared to estimated data. In the ¹H-NMR of T2, the aromatic multipletes could not be resolved due to residues of solvent and impurities. It was difficult to separate toluene from this product during workup. Some peaks characteristic of aromatic amines indicated that around 15% of the isocyanate groups had been hydrolyzed. Peaks appeared in T2 that deviated from the main signal at δ 3.80 for the methylene group (CH₂ groups between the aromatic rings) (Figure 17), indicating up to 50% other substances. However, the integral of aromatic protons compensated for residual toluene, and impurities gave the expected number of protons compared to the protons indicated by the main methylene group peak (Table 9). The ¹H-NMR of T1 showed methylene group protons and aromatic protons in relative numbers that matched what could be expected in the 4,4'-MDI trimer. Other impurities appeared in this spectrum compared to the T2 spectrum.

For ¹³C, the estimated signals were assigned to the most probable signals from the T1 substance as well as the heteronuclear multiple quantum coherence (HMQC) and heteronuclear multiple bond correlation (HMBC) spectra. Multiple close peaks at δ 118, 129, and 134 could not be resolved and were therefore given rough numbers. The assigned ¹³C data (Table 10) are shown in Figure 17.

It was not possible to obtain help with professional interpretation of the NMR data produced, and this limited the extraction of more information from the spectra.

Table 9. ¹H-NMR of synthesized trimers and estimated shifts for the proposed trimer structure

Trimer			Estimated		HMQC	НМВС
Shift (ppm)	Туре	Integral	Shift (ppm)	Integral	BOUND to C (shift, ppm)	Coupling to C (shift, ppm)
3.80	S	6H	3.81	6H (s)	40.15	134.36 + 129
7.0–7.2	m broad	24H	7.04 and 7.1*	6H (d) 12H (dod)	118	136.53 + 137.09
7.3–7.4	m broad		7.52	6H (d)	129	118 + 133.21

* This was taken as an uncertain estimation, as the program treated the -NCO group as an unknown substituent. s, singlet; m, multiplet; d, doublet; dod, doublet of doublet; HMQC, heteronuclear multiple quantum coherence ; HMBC, heteronuclear multiple bond correlation; H, hydrogen.

Table 10.

¹³C-NMR of synthesized trimer and estimated shifts for the proposed trimer structure.

Trimer shift (ppm)	Estimated shifts (ppm)	Carbon no. in Figure 17
40.15	45.8	7
113.97	125.7	14
118	122.1	2, 6
118	125.6	10, 12
129	128.4	3, 15
129	129.3	9, 13
134	130.2	1
134	131.1	11
136.53	137.1	4
137.09	138.7	8
152.53	151.1	15

5 Discussion

5.1 Studies I and II

It has been shown previously that occupational airway exposure to 4,4'-MDI can be traced and monitored by analyzing 4,4'-MDA as a biomarker for this exposure in hydrolyzed plasma and urine from humans and animals (94, 95). 4,4'-MDA in hydrolyzed blood and urine samples has been identified as a metabolite of 4,4'-MDI from airway exposure in humans (96, 97). This has been used to trace the absorbed amount of 4,4'-MDI in blood and urine samples (88). In our studies, we used similar methods to detect dermal uptake of 4,4'-MDI by analysis of 4,4'-MDA in hydrolyzed blood and urine samples. Tape-stripping of the exposed skin areas was also used to detect 4,4'-MDI remaining in the superficial skin layers.

Studies I and II involved dermal exposure of 4 volunteers to 2.0% 4,4'-MDI in pet., with a surface concentration corresponding to approximately 0.8 mg/cm². The amount applied in the study corresponded to the one recommended at that time, namely 20 mg (11) as 2.0% MDI in petrolatum. However, volunteers 1 and 2 exhibited eczematous dermatitis on the exact area of application 7–10 days after the application. Positive reactions that are seen 7–10 days after application are usually considered to be a sign of active sensitization. However, it has previously been shown that such late positive reactions to isocyanates may also appear in already sensitized individuals (9). In order to determine whether or not the late reactions were due to active sensitization, we performed retesting of 4,4'-MDI in serial dilutions and also testing with potentially cross-reacting substances such as 4,4'-MDA, PPD, and 4,4'-DMDI.

Since the volunteers showed such strong reactions at the site of the provocation, they were not tested with the highest concentration of 4,4'-MDI, i.e. 2.0%, and thus no re-test was performed with the same concentration as the one used at the suspected active sensitization. Only one of the volunteers reacted to the diluted preparation of 4,4'-MDI on D7. In our experience at the department in Malmö, patch testing with 4,4'-MDI can be difficult since there could be significant individual variation in test response from one test occasion to another, and we have seen a case in which the same patient showed early reaction, late reaction, and no reaction at all to 4,4'-MDI when tested on different occasions. Based solely upon the testing with

diluted preparations of 4,4'-MDI, the results did not fulfill the criteria described in section 1.2 for establishing that active sensitization had occurred in both volunteers, since one did not react to 4,4'-MDI. Still, we consider it certain that both volunteers had been sensitized through the dermal uptake, since they both reacted to 4,4'-MDA. Concurrent allergic reactions to 4,4'-MDA and 4,4'-MDI have been described in an earlier report (9).

The concentration and dose per unit area (2.0% and 0.8 mg/cm², respectively) that we used in these studies have been established and used in patch testing over many years without reported active sensitization. We therefore believed that using this dose per unit area was safe to use, yet two volunteers were sensitized. A regular patch test is performed using a commercial 4,4'-MDI preparation. In our study we also patch tested the volunteers with fresh 4,4'-MDI preparation made at our department. In a previous study from our department (59), it was found that commercial patch test preparations of 4,4'-MDI contained only small fractions of the concentrations intended. It is therefore likely that most patients who were patch tested with commercial 4,4'-MDI preparation. In our provocation study, we may have unintentionally exposed the volunteers to a much higher concentration and dose per unit area than patients who were routinely patch tested earlier. It is possible that the concentration used and the dose per unit area used induced a certain amount of irritation that could have promoted sensitization.

It has been considered that the dose per unit area is the most important factor for sensitization, and more important than the total area exposed. A study performed on humans found that irritation and concentration were important factors for sensitization but the authors reported that a "notable finding is that the area size is not a very influential factor." When the surface area decreased from 0.8 cm^2 to 0.08 cm^2 a difference in sensitization rate was found. However, a relatively high concentration, sensitizing almost the whole group exposed at 0.8 cm^2 , was used on these surfaces and therefore it is difficult to compare the results from these two areas with the rest of the presented data since different doses and exposure areas were used (98). However, in 1966 Kligman found that the sensitization rate increased significantly in the area range $0.36-14.0 \text{ cm}^2$ when keeping the dose / area unit constant. In areas larger than 14.0 cm^2 , the sensitization rate did not increase (99). This means that our provocation areas (12.5 and 31 cm²) possibly could increase the risk of sensitization when compared to the patch test area, i.e. 0.50 cm^2 .

Our conclusion was that the sensitization could have been due to provocation with a higher concentration and dose per unit area than had been used in practice earlier for patch testing. Our provocation areas were in the area range where sensitization is significantly increased. Another factor for the sensitization was the possible irritation that may have been induced by the fresh preparations of 4,4'-MDI.

Based on the results above, the European Society for Contact Dermatitis (ESCD) recommended reduction of the recommended patch test concentration of 4,4'-MDI to 0.50% (w/w) in Europe (100).

PPD was tested due to the suspicion that one of the volunteers was allergic to it. PPD could have been the primary sensitizer, cross-reacting with 4,4'-MDA. The volunteers were patch tested with PPD and had no reactions to it. Since DMDI had been reported to cross-react with 4,4'-MDI (62), the volunteers were also patch tested with this substance but no concurrent reactions were evident in the present study (Table 4). The cross-reactivity of these diisocyanates and corresponding amines, and of PPD, was explored further in papers III and IV.

The physical properties, log $P_{o/w}$ and the molecular weight, of 4,4'-MDI are favorable for skin penetration. Our data showed that a substantial proportion—approximately 50% of the dose of 4,4'-MDI—had been absorbed by the skin. Although the crushing of one sample flask during transportation resulting in removal of the identity of the other sampling flasks from volunteers 3 and 4, we believe that we made a good estimation of the amounts absorbed. At clinical patch testing, many allergens are tested in petrolatum preparations and similar proportions of the substances being tested are absorbed by the skin (101). These results are well in line with the physical properties of 4,4'-MDI, and indicate that 4,4'-MDI readily penetrates the skin (102) and can cause active sensitization when tested as 2.0% in pet. and when using fresh preparations (86).

The amounts of 4,4'-MDA detected in hydrolyzed blood and urine of the volunteers were very low, and only represented a very small fraction of the dose of 4,4'-MDI applied. We estimate, based on the assumption of a plasma volume of approximately 5 l, that the sum of the amounts in plasma and urine was in the range of 0.01–0.2% of the 4,4'-MDI dose used for volunteers 2, 3, and 4. For volunteer 1, no such calculations could be done due to the blood and urine concentrations being below the detection limits. The non-absorbed amounts of 4,4'-MDI cannot explain this result. Events more complicated than just diffusion-based penetration take place in 4,4'-MDI exposed skin, which is the predominant skin penetration is that 4,4'-MDI reacts and binds chemically to skin constituents. This explanation is supported by earlier findings suggesting that 4,4'-MDI undergoes specific reactions to the site of first contact and forms adducts, conjugates, and/or polyureas (103).

Biological monitoring of exposure to airborne 4,4'-MDI has been done in workers exposed to airborne 4,4'-MDI through evaporation from an industrial MDI product (104). The study showed that 8 hours of exposure to a median air concentration of 0.2 μ g/m³ 4,4'-MDI resulted in 4,4'-MDA concentrations with medians of 2 ng/ml in hydrolyzed urine and 0.7 ng/ml in hydrolyzed plasma. Approximately 10 hours after the volunteers had started the dermal application of 4,4'-MDI in the present

study, we found that the highest concentrations of 4,4'-MDA were 4.32 ng/ml in hydrolyzed urine and 0.22 ng/ml in hydrolyzed plasma (Figures 6 and 7). Thus, 8 hours of skin exposure to 25–50 mg 4,4'-MDI gave similar blood and urine values of 4,4'-MDA as air exposure to 2 μ g over 8 hours, based on an inhaled air volume of 10 m³ per day. This indicates that the distribution and elimination after dermal uptake of 4,4'-MDI are much slower processes compared to the similar events in airway uptake.

Analysis of the tape strips showed that only 0.1–0.3% of the total applied dose of 4,4'-MDI could be retrieved from volunteers 3 and 4, showing that accumulation of unreacted 4,4'-MDI in the upper layers of the stratum corneum is very low. However, following increased applied dermal doses ranging from 25 to 50 mg, an increase in urinary metabolites could be seen. The peak in urinary metabolites (4.32 ng/ml) appeared after 10–14 hours and declined to approximately starting values 48 hours after the start of the exposure. This indicates that 4,4'-MDI probably reacts with cell constituents and stays in the upper layers of the skin. A proportion of the reacted 4,4'-MDI is probably eliminated from the skin upon cellular renewal while the remaining amount of bound 4,4'-MDI is hydrolyzed and absorbed as 4,4'-MDA which then can be distributed to plasma and urine. The absorption and elimination of 4,4'-MDI is a slow process, and it can probably take weeks or even months to eliminate it from the body.

It has been suggested that 4,4'-MDI reacts with water in the skin to form 4,4'-MDA, which then penetrates the skin. If this suggestion was true, it could explain the low amounts of 4,4'-MDI found in the tape strips. In human studies, 4,4'-MDA has been shown to penetrate the skin easily (105, 106), which should result in high 4,4'-MDA levels in the urine. However, we found only traces of 4,4'-MDA, indicating that only a very small fraction of 4,4'-MDI could have reacted with water and formed 4,4'-MDA; this mechanism is therefore most likely not responsible for the instability of 4,4-MDI test preparations (107). This was investigated further in paper VI.

Patch testing in individuals who were allergic to 4,4'-MDI has shown that positive test reactions to 4,4'-MDI in already sensitized individuals may appear after 2–3 weeks whereas a reaction from contact allergy usually appears after 1–3 days (9). The authors hypothesized that there are unusually late reactions from the binding of 4,4'-MDI to cell constituents, with a subsequent slow release of 4,4'-MDA as hydrolysis of the conjugates that are formed occurs. The low recovery of 4,4'-MDI in study II supported our suspicion that a large proportion of the skin-absorbed 4,4'-MDI rapidly reacted with cell constituents in the upper layers of the skin. The late positive patch test reactions would then be caused by 4,4'-MDA allergy. Polymerization in the upper skin layers might also be a contributory mechanism. The very low levels of 4,4'-MDA in hydrolyzed plasma and urine samples would

indicate that only a small fraction of 4,4'-MDI penetrates the skin in an unaltered form.

Efforts were made to verify the amount of 4,4'-MDI that reacted with cell components in the tape strips by hydrolysis and conversion to 4,4'-MDA. The analysis at another laboratory failed, and it was impossible to re-analyze the samples.

5.2 Studies III and IV

5.2.1 Sensitizing capacity in GPMT

In studies III and V, we wanted to investigate the sensitizing capacity and crossreactivity of 4,4'-MDI, 4,4'-DMDI, and 2,4-TDI, and of the amines 4,4'-MDA, PPD, and 4,4'-DMDA. We used the GPMT method to investigate the allergenic properties of these chemicals.

In order to elicit allergic contact dermatitis, a chemical must have the physiochemical characteristics necessary to penetrate the stratum corneum. Once in the viable epidermis, it must be able to form reaction products with proteins for the elicitation of an immune response. Thus, contact allergens are either protein-reactive in themselves or are metabolized in the skin into protein-reactive species (108). Isocyanates are (in theory) potent contact allergens, since they possess electrophilic carbons that can be readily attacked by nucleophilic atoms present on macromolecules in the skin. However, it has been proposed that their reactivity is so high that they might polymerize before they penetrate the skin (65). Amines are lipophilic, and penetrate the skin quite readily. However, in order to react with proteins in the skin, the amines must be metabolized.

In the literature, there have been some animal studies investigating the sensitizing capacity of 4,4'-MDI. In 1976, the sensitizing capacity of 4,4'-MDI was studied with GPMT, and it was concluded that the proportion of test animals that reacted to 4,4'-MDI (10% in pet.) showed that it was a strong allergen. In that study, they used higher concentrations than in paper III, with intradermal injections of 5.0% 4,4'-MDI in olive oil and epicutanous sensitization with 25.0% 4,4'-MDI in petrolatum (109). In paper III, we had difficulties in sensitizing with 4,4'-MDI. It was used as induction substance on three separate occasions. On the first occasion, it was found to be a strong sensitizer—with 18 out of 24 test animals reacting to 1% 4,4'-MDI in acetone (p < 0.001). However, in this first sensitization series there was a suspicion that 4,4'-DMDI might cause irritant reactions if patch tested at a concentration equimolar to 1.0% 4,4'-MDI. Thus, the concentrations of 4,4'-MDI at challenge I and challenge II were not the same. The concentration at challenge II was lower—on

account of being able to patch test in a concentration equimolar to 4,4'-DMDI. As expected, a lower proportion of test animals were positive in challenge II, where they were patch tested with a lower concentration of 4,4'-MDI than in challenge I (18 of 24 animals were positive in challenge I as opposed to 7 of 24 in challenge II). In the second sensitization series, two concentrations of 4,4'-DMDI were investigated and it was concluded that a concentration of 1.0% did not cause irritant reactions. Hence, a new series was performed in order to induce with 4,4'-MDI and perform challenge II with concentrations equimolar to those in challenge I. This time, the induction failed and only 2 out of 24 test animals were sensitized. Since the positive controls reacted, there were no obvious methodological reasons for the failure. 4,4'-MDI was used as an induction substance a third time. This time, 8 out of 24 test animals reacted (p < 0.05), making it a weak allergen based on the criteria set.

In paper III, we showed that 4,4'-MDA, 4,4'-DMDI, and 4,4'-DMDA were strong sensitizers among our group of sensitizers. This was supported by previous clinical observations (61, 62, 65, 66). 4,4'-MDA is known to sensitize patients when tested at 0.5% in petrolatum (110, 111).

In paper IV, 8 of the test animals induced with 2,4-TDI were sacrificed due to oozing wounds at the site of the intradermal injection. Their capacity to dry and form crusts was considered to deviate too much from what was allowed in the ethical approval. Thus, 2,4-TDI was not considered to be a sensitizer based upon our set criteria, when using Fisher's exact test on the test results from the remaining 16 animals. However, if the sacrificed animals had been positive, the results of 2,4-TDI would have been statistically significant and would have indicated that 2,4-TDI is a moderate skin sensitizer.

PPD is an ingredient of hair dyes, and is considered to be a potent contact sensitizer. It is also associated with 4,4'-MDA allergy (110) and is usually used to detect hair dye allergy (68, 112, 113). In paper IV, we found that PPD was a strong sensitizer in our tests. This result is an accordance with other studies, in which PPD has been shown to be a strong sensitizer in both LLNA and GMPT (114-116). According to the GHS and the CLP regulation, PPD can be classified as a strong skin sensitizer.

5.2.2 Cross-reactivity in GPMT

Animals primarily sensitized to 4,4'-MDI show statistically significant crossreactivity to 4,4'-MDA. This indicates that individuals who are sensitized to 4,4'-MDI may show simultaneous reaction to 4,4'-MDA.

In paper III, we also found that animals sensitized to 4,4'-MDI showed cross-reactivity to 4,4'-DMDI. However, when 4,4'-DMDI was the primary sensitizer, no cross-reactivity to 4,4'-MDI was found. To our knowledge, there have been no reports in the literature describing concurrent reactions between the two isocyanates.

Instead, concurrent reactions between 4,4'-MDA and 4,4'-DMDI have been described (61, 62, 65). The lack of concurrent reactions between the two isocyanates possibly stems from the fact that commercially available patch test preparations of 4,4'-MDI have a high risk of false-negative reactions (59). Finally, it was found that animals sensitized to 4,4'-MDA also showed cross-reactivity to 4,4'-DMDA. Concurrent reactions between 4,4'-MDA, 4,4'-DMDA, and 4,4'-DMDI have been described in 2 patients who worked for a medical company, where a lacquer based on 4,4'-DMDI was used (62).

In 2012, Engfeldt et al. published results from consecutive patch testing with 4,4'-MDA and 4,4'-MDI in Belgium and Sweden (110). It was concluded that positive reactions to 4,4'-MDA were associated with contact allergy to PPD. A study published by Liippo et al. showed that one-third of their 4,4'-MDA-positive patch test patients also reacted to PPD (117). In 2002, Uter et al. presented clinical patch test data indicating that "para-amino" compounds could cross-react with each other. Patients who were positive against PPD were also positive against 4,4'-MDA and other para-amino compounds that are similar in structure (118). Cross-reactivity has also been reported between PPD and azo-dyes (119). We have seen that guinea pigs sensitized to PPD show cross-reactivity to 4.4'-MDA. It is possible that a positive reaction to 4.4'-MDA may indicate sensitization to PPD. This cross-reactivity could be an explanation for the concurrent reactions in humans that have been observed earlier (110). PPD is one of the most common contact allergens in the baseline series. The cross-reactivity between 4,4'-MDA and PPD should be taken into consideration if 4,4'-MDA is used as a sign of 4,4'-MDI allergy. It should be considered that a positive reaction to 4,4'-MDA could also be a sign of hair dyeing habits, and not only of isocyanate exposure. Since no cross-reactivity could be found between 4,4'-MDI and PPD, one can assume that individuals with hair dye allergy can work with isocyanates. Accordingly, there is nothing in the results from this study to suggest that 4,4'-MDI-sensitized individuals have a higher risk of developing eczema when dving their hair. However, we cannot draw any conclusions on whether 2,4-TDI-sensitized individuals are more likely to develop eczema from hair dyes containing PPD, since the result could not be fully evaluated. However, it should be noted that some indication of cross-reactivity to PPD was seen in animals sensitized with 2,4-TDI. It is possible that significant results would have been seen if it had been possible to read the tests in all the animals.

There was some indication of cross-reactivity to 4,4'-DMDA in animals sensitized to PPD. This and cross-reactivity to 4,4'-DMDA in animals sensitized to 4,4'-MDA—and also an indication of cross-reactivity in the reverse situation—highlights the need for further studies to investigate the cross-reactivity patterns between the amines investigated and other structurally related substances such as 2,4-TDA and azo-dyes.

Our substances were tested at equimolar amounts in order to be able to compare the sensitizing capacities between these substances. GPMT is a method that is defined by maximization, which means sensitizing animals with the highest non-irritating concentration of a substance regardless of the equimolarity. If our substances had been tested with the highest non-irritating concentration in the sensitization and challenge, we would probably have seen more cross-reactions and the indication of a cross-reaction could have turned into a statistically significant cross-reaction.

5.3 Study V

In paper III, where the GPMT was used to investigate the sensitizing capacity and cross-reactivity of 4,4'-MDI, the sensitization gave different results when performed on our test substances on three different occasions-namely, strong sensitizer, nonsensitizer, and weak sensitizer (102). The sensitization procedure was investigated for errors, but no obvious reasons for the different results were found. The positive controls reacted as expected. However, it was suggested that one plausible explanation could be a variation in 4,4'-MDI content in the preparations used in the intradermal sensitization. Therefore, we analyzed the preparations containing 4,4'-MDI and those that had been used in the intradermal induction at the third and last sensitization trial with 4,4'-MDI. We found that the preparation containing 4,4'-MDI and paraffin oil was stable while the other, containing FCA, 4,4'-MDI, and paraffin oil, had declined in 4,4'-MDI concentration. We therefore investigated the stability of 4,4'-MDI when mixed with FCA. Mixtures of this kind were followed over time after storage in the refrigerator and at room temperature. Another factor that might have affected the outcome was the stability of the raw material, i.e. 4,4'-MDI. Thus, 4,4'-MDI of different ages was also investigated.

4,4'-MDI is a reactive substance, and it reacts readily with water, amino-, thiol-, and hydroxyl groups in other substances. There are proteins and water in FCA which are targets for 4,4'-MDI, due to its reactivity with amino- and hydroxyl groups. FCA contains water, oil, emulsifier, and killed *Mycobacterium* bacteria. At the start of the study, the 4,4'-MDI preparation was prepared according to the guidelines that had been used in the previous GMPT studies. These guidelines involved dissolving 4,4'-MDI in FCA and later mixing with the vehicle of choice (102, 120).

In all three sensitization trials with 4,4'-MDI, the induction emulsion with FCA was made one day prior to the intradermal sensitization and stored in a refrigerator. The emulsion was then taken out of the refrigerator after 24 hours, delivered to the animal testing laboratory, and stored at room temperature while the animals were being prepared for the induction phase. The results showed that the storage conditions play a vital role. When stored at room temperature, the concentration of

4,4'-MDI in the mixture had almost halved after 24 hours. At the end of the assay (48 hours), only 0.33% 4,4'-MDI (w/v) remained in the emulsion.

For the mixture stored in the refrigerator, the concentration also declined—but more slowly compared to storage at room temperature. After the end of the assay, the concentration of 4,4'-MDI stored in the refrigerator was 0.67% (w/v) (Figures 10 and 11). The decrease in 4,4'-MDI concentration could affect the sensitization process. As a conclusion from the results above, the approximate concentration of 4,4'-MDI in the intradermal FCA preparations that were used could be extrapolated from Figures 1 and 2 to be around 0.61% (w/v) as compared to the intended concentration i.e. 1.0% (w/v).

Analysis of 4,4'-MDI of different ages showed that pure 4,4'-MDI is a very reactive chemical. Despite being stored at -21° C, the concentration decreased substantially in just few months (Figure 12). If both factors interact—instability of the pure substance and the reactivity with FCA—this could have a major effect on the outcome of the method, since it might affect both the intradermal and the epidermal induction, and also the elicitation and detection of sensitization.

The use of FCA in the GPMT is a generally sensitive method for characterizing and identifying contact allergens by enhancing sensitization in the guinea pig, but it is important to point out that reactive chemicals may not be at the intended concentration in the preparations used. Based on our findings, the induction emulsion in FCA should be prepared in direct connection with the administration of the intradermal injection of the substance. Furthermore, it is most important to use fresh 4,4'-MDI to guarantee correct concentrations in both induction and elicitation. In similar assays for other aromatic diisocyanates or other highly reactive substances, it may be of interest to compare the intended concentration and the actual concentration injected.

5.4 Study VI

The 4,4'-MDI test preparation had been examined by our department earlier, and we found that test preparations contained small fractions of what was stated in the descriptions (59). We wanted to investigate what happens in the preparations, what is formed, and how. One explanation might be that the decrease in concentration is caused by contact with water. Water was mixed in excess with a petrolatum preparation of 4,4'-MDI and followed over time. The addition of water did not affect the rate of decrease, probably because it is almost impossible to disperse water in petrolatum. The mixed water resurfaced again after mixing. The rate of decrease

was slightly slower in this experiment than what was observed in an earlier investigation of the stability of pure 4,4'-MDI in petrolatum (107).

Acetone was also mixed with the 4,4'-MDI preparation. We tried to add a mixture of acetone and water. This did not affect the rate of decrease either. We did not succeed in distributing the water evenly enough to get it in close contact with the 4,4'-MDI. Our tries strongly suggested that water does not cause the observed disappearance of 4,4'-MDI in petrolatum preparations. Evaporation of 4,4'-MDI from petrolatum preparations was also excluded.

We also mixed ethanol with the preparation in petrolatum. Ethanol has a hydroxyl group that 4,4'-MDI can react with. The reaction was fast, and after 1 hour more than half the amount of 4,4'-MDI had reacted. This showed that 4,4'-MDI really can react inside the petrolatum preparation.

Isocyanates are reactive molecules, especially 4,4'-MDI, and they can react with each other. Spontaneous dimerization and trimerization can occur even at room temperature. The dimer has been described mainly as an intermediate in the formation of the more stable trimer (121). There are no published data on the 4,4'-MDI dimer and the 4,4'-MDI trimer. Searching of major databases revealed very little information on the 4,4'-MDI dimer, while the 4,4'-MDI trimer has hardly featured in the previous literature (122, 123).

We wanted to investigate whether trimerization is what happens in aging 4,4'-MDI petrolatum preparations, but 4,4'-MDI trimer could not be obtained commercially. At our laboratory, we developed a method for synthesis of 4,4'-MDI trimer using acetone, 4,4'-MDI, and the catalyst triethylamine. The synthesized 4,4'-MDI trimer was difficult to dissolve, and although we tested all the usual solvents we found only two that could dissolve the synthesized 4,4'-MDI trimer, dimethylacetamide and dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO). We found a published method for synthesis of the 4,4'-MDI trimer (92). The product from this synthesis was soluble in the same solvents. The only proof of identity that could be found was an FTIR spectrum (92).

The synthesized substance was almost insoluble, which was a huge obstacle in the analysis for identification of the structure using Gas chromatography–mass spectrometry (GC-MS)—due to the low volatility of DMSO. FTIR gave a spectrum that was similar to that published. NMR provided us with some information, but we only found limited evidence that the substance under investigation was 4,4'-MDI trimer. It was clear from the NMR data that the substance we were analyzing was not pure. However, we found NMR signals that were compatible with the proposed structure of the 4,4'-MDI trimer. Our suggested NMR shifts for the substance must be studied further.

We could conclude from our NMR analysis that further analysis and purification of the 4,4'-MDI trimer synthesized would be necessary. It was also important to find a

solvent that would be compatible with GC-MS. Mass spectrometry is crucial for identification of the 4,4'-MDI trimer.

GPC was used for analysis of the 4,4'-MDI trimer using the synthesized 4,4'-MDI trimer as reference substance. The different preparations from batches of 4,4'-MDI in petrolatum of different ages were extracted and analyzed using GPC. All the extracts of the different batches of aged petrolatum preparations showed a peak with the same retention time as the synthesized trimer. They also showed similar, though not identical, UV-spectra due to impurities.

The trimer of 4,4'-MDI has a molecular weight of 750, which makes it more difficult to diffuse and penetrate the skin. The 4,4'-MDI trimer still had reactive isocyanate groups. These groups can bind to proteins or to other skin constituents, and the substance could still be an allergen. The substance could also bind to the site of skin exposure in the same way as 4,4'-MDI appears to do (124), and this would prevent or slow down penetration. Because many patients have been patch tested with aged 4,4'-MDI patch test preparations and the results from these indicated that the patients did not react, we can conclude that if the trimer is present it does not cross-react with 4,4'-MDI and that it is probably a weaker allergen than 4,4'-MDI.

What we currently know is that we have been able to dissolve the synthesized 4,4'-MDI trimer only in DMSO or dimethylacetamide. The extractable substance(s) from the petrolatum preparations showed similar solubility properties. FTIR and NMR data suggested that the substance synthesized was mainly 4,4'-MDI trimer. It is also probable that this is the main substance found in aged test preparations. Furthermore, we can exclude the idea that evaporation or reaction with water would be significant factors in the instability of 4,4'-MDI patch test preparations. The data mostly suggest that trimerization—and perhaps also dimerization—is the main factor influencing this instability.

6 Summary and concluding remarks

From studies I and II, we have seen that dermal absorption of 4,4'-MDI occurs in human skin. Only small fractions of 4,4'-MDI remain as such in the superficial layers of the skin. The distribution after the dermal uptake of 4.4'-MDI appears to be a slower process than what is seen in airway uptake. Our results suggest that the distribution of 4,4'-MDI from the skin and the subsequent elimination is a slow process. The proportion of absorption was half of the amount applied The 4.4'-MDI absorbed reacts with cell constituents. This absorbed amount is probably released as 4,4'-MDA by spontaneous or enzymatic hydrolysis over a matter of weeks or months, systemically distributed, and finally eliminated. A proportion of reacted 4,4'-MDI is probably eliminated from the skin upon cellular renewal. Although a small proportion of 4,4'-MDI penetrates the skin in unchanged form, our studies have shown that the subsequent processes in the skin ultimately lead to an allergic reaction caused by exposure to 4,4-MDI. In fact, patch testing with freshly made preparations of 2% 4,4-MDI might lead to active sensitization. Thus, the concentration of 0.5% in pet., which is recommended by the ESCD based on our results, should be used instead

In studies III and IV, we found that 4,4'-MDI, 4,4'-MDA, 4,4'-DMDI, 4,4'-DMDA, and PPD were strong sensitizers among our group of sensitizers. In the evaluation of cross-reactivity, the clinical observations previously noting that 4,4'-MDA is an indicator for 4,4'-MDI were verified, as animals sensitized to 4,4'-MDI also reacted to 4,4'-MDA. Furthermore, animals sensitized to 4,4'-MDI cross-reacted with 4,4'-DMDI and animals sensitized to 4,4'-MDA cross-reacted with 4,4'-DMDA.

PPD-sensitized animals showed cross-reactivity to 4,4'-MDA and there was an indication of cross-reactivity to 4,4'-DMDA. 4,4'-MDI sensitized animals did not show cross-reactivity to PPD, so PPD cannot be used as a marker for 4,4'-MDI allergy. From the results of GPMT studies, it can be concluded that reactions to certain chemicals may not always indicate allergy to a specific substance, but rather a cross-reaction to a chemically related substance.

The intradermal induction concentration (1.0%) of 2,4-TDI can induce strong local reactions in guinea pigs, and should be chosen carefully. Animals sensitized to 2,4-TDI showed strong local reactions and had to be sacrificed.

FCA is used to enhance sensitization in animals. The allergens are mixed with FCA. It contains killed bacteria in an emulsion of water and oil. In study V, we found that 4,4'-MDI reacts with water, protein or other components of the mixture. We also found that aged pure 4,4'-MDI is instable even when stored in the freezer. The outcome of 4,4'-MDI sensitization in GPMT might be affected by the instability of the pure substance as well as its reaction with FCA. Major effects can be expected if these two factors interact. Hence, fresh 4,4'-MDI should be used and induction substances should be prepared in close connection with the intradermal injection. These factors might explain the variation in sensitization with 4,4'-MDI seen in study III.

Our results in study VI strongly indicated that water does not cause the previously reported disappearance of 4,4'-MDI in petrolatum patch test preparations. We can exclude the idea that evaporation or reaction with water would be significant factors for the instability of the 4,4'-MDI patch test preparations. Most of our data indicated that trimerization, and perhaps also dimerization, is the main factor influencing this instability.

The 4,4'-MDI trimer has reactive isocyanate groups. These groups can bind to proteins or to other skin constituents and cause allergy. However, the allergenicity might be weak due to the fact that as the molecular weight of a substance increases, it is more difficult for it to move through the skin. Because many patients have been patch tested with aged 4,4'-MDI preparations (in which they did not react), we can conclude that if the trimer is present it does not cross-react with 4,4'-MDI and that it is probably a weaker allergen than 4,4'-MDI.

7 Popular scientific summary in Swedish

Huden är kroppens största organ och är vårt skydd mot yttre faktorer. Vid kontakt med främmande ämnen kan kroppens immunförsvar lära sig känna igen dessa ämnen och vid förnyad kontakt med dessa ämnen kan det uppstå ett allergiskt kontakteksem. Kontaktallergi kan diagnostiseras genom att de misstänkta ämnena späds i lämplig vehikel, oftast vaselin. Dessa spädningar placeras i testkammare (lapptest) som sedan fästs på ryggen och tillåts sitta i två dagar. Vid dag 3/4 och 7 avläses testreaktionerna av en hudläkare.

I denna avhandling undersöker vi de kontaktallergiframkallande egenskaperna hos isocyanater. Isocyanater används i tillverkningen av polyuretan (PUR). PUR bildas när en isocyanat reagerar med en flervärd alkohol. PUR-produkter finns i många vanligt förekommande produkter i vår omgivning, exempelvis färg, lim, skumgummi och lack.

Isocyanater är kända för att ge upphov till luftvägssjukdomar såsom bronkit och astma. Hudexponering för isocyanater kan också orsaka kontaktallergi vilket är mindre uppmärksammat. För att diagnosticera kontaktallergi mot isocyanater, lapptestas patienter med en speciell isocyanatserie. I denna serie testas olika isocyanater i vaselin med en specifik koncentration. I denna serie finns också de motsvarande aminerna till de olika isocyanaterna. Dessa aminer bildas när isocyanaterna hydrolyseras.

I denna avhandling studerar vi i arbete I och II hudupptag och absorption av isocyanaten difenylmetan-4,4'-diisocyanat (4,4'-MDI) samt utsöndringen av denna via blod och urin. Detta gör vi genom en tejp-stripping metod samt med hjälp av vätskekromatografiska metoder.

Flera fallrapporter har beskrivit samtidiga reaktioner för olika isocyanater och deras motsvarande aminer. Därför undersöker vi i delarbetena III och IV hur sensibiliserande isocyanater är och hur de korsreagerar dels med varandra och dels även med sina motsvarande aminer. Detta gör vi med en *in vivo* metod som heter Guinea Pig Maximization Test (GPMT). Studien gör att vi kan få en klarare bild över reaktionsmekanismer och hur immunförsvaret reagerar på ämnen med liknande kemisk struktur.
Avhandlingen undersöker svårigheter som vi upptäckte vid djurförsöken. Frågeställningen var om ämnenas höga reaktivitet påverkar utfallet av försöken. Vi har även undersökt stabiliteten och åldrandet av 4,4'-MDI i de beredningar som används för att göra djuren allergiska.

I delarbete VI studerar vi instabiliteten av beredningar av 4,4'-MDI. Denna har tidigare påvisat brister i metoden för detektering av kontaktallergi mot isocyanater. Vi undersöker vad som händer i vaselinberedningarna och vad som bildas istället. Detta är en viktig del av avhandlingen då den belyser ett problem med diagnostiken och den låga frekvensen av kontaktallergi mot isocyanater och om detta är huvudorsaken till de låga frekvenserna.

Från studie I och II har vi sett att 4,4'-MDI absorberas bra av huden. Ämnet sprids och utsöndras långsamt från huden till övriga kroppen. Endast små fraktioner av 4,4'-MDI finns kvar som sådant i de ytliga hudlagren. Våra resultat tyder på att en stor andel av 4,4'-MDI reagerar snabbt med cellkomponenter och endast en liten del av 4,4'-MDI-dosen verkar penetrera huden i oförändrad form. Trots att 4,4'-MDI binder in till huden står det klart att 4,4'-MDI kan ta sig ner till de levande delarna och framkalla hudallergi. Hudupptaget behöver studeras mer ingående genom provokation av allergiska personer med 4,4'-MDI och följa halterna av 4,4'-MDI i plasma och urin under en längre period. Detta kan ge viktig information om hudupptaget och utsöndring.

Två försökspersoner exponerades för en beredning av 2.0% w/w 4,4'-MDI med en koncentration som vi vanligtvis lapptestar med. Trots detta ledde försöket till sensibilisering av försökspersonerna. Tidigare ansåg man att ytkoncentrationen är den avgörande faktorn sensibilisering oberoende av ytans storlek. I våra studier använde vi större exponeringsytor än vid en vanlig lapptestning med färsk beredning 4,4'-MDI i petrolatum. Det är samma koncentration som anges på kommersiella testberedningar. Sensibiliseringen skedde troligen pga större yta och att den färska beredningen faktiskt innehöll 2.0% w/w medan de kommersiella beredningarna innehåller mycket lägre halter. Ett resultat av våra studier är att ESCDs rekommendation för lapptestkoncentration sänkts till 0.50% w/w 4,4'-MDI i vaselin för att undvika sensibilisering.

I studie III, IV har vi jämfört styrkan på de kontaktallergena egenskaperna hos den grupp ämnen som testats. 4,4'-MDI, diamino-4,4'-difenylmetan (4,4'-MDA), dicyklohexylmetan-4,4'-diisocyanate (4,4'-DMDI), diamino-4,4'-dicyklohexylmetan (4,4'-DMDA) och p-fenylendiamin (PPD) visades vara starka allergener. Undersökningen av 2,4-toluendiisocyanat (2,4-TDI) misslyckades delvis då testdjuren fick kraftiga reaktioner efter intradermala injektioner och därför fick avlivas. Sensibiliseringsgraden blev inte signifikant med de återstående testdjuren. Hade alla avlivade djur varit positiva så hade sensibiliseringen blivit statistiskt signifikant och då hade 2,4-TDI kunnat klassas som svagt allergen i jämförelse med de andra undersökta ämnena. 2,4-TDI har tidigare klassats som stark allergen när den har undersökts med local lymph node assay (LLNA).

Korsallergimönstret av de ovannämnda ämnena studerades också. Djur sensibiliserade med 4,4'-MDI korsreagerade mot 4,4'-MDA och 4,4'-DMDI. Djur sensibiliserade med 4,4'-MDA korsreagerade mot 4,4'-DMDA. Djur sensibiliserade mot 4,4'-MDA eller 4,4'-DMDI korsreagerade inte mot 4,4'-MDI. Inga av de ovan nämnda ämnena gav korsallergi mot PPD. PPD-sensibilisering gav upphov till korsallergi mot 4,4'-MDA. Eftersom GPMT är en välbeprövad metod kan vi dra slutsatsen att även människor reagerar på samma sätt. Positiva testreaktioner för 4,4'-MDA kan förklaras av antingen 4,4'-MDI i t ex. byggnadsindustrin eller sensibilisering för PPD vid t ex hårfärgning. Exponering för 4,4'-MDA är också en tänkbar orsak till sensibilisering men högst osannolik då det är ett ämne som är cancerframkallande och knappast förekommer i vår omgivning.

Vid sensibiliseringsförsöken av 4,4'-MDI har vi sett en variation i resultaten. Detta har vi studerat närmare i studie V. Vid närmare undersökning stod det klart att åldern på 4,4'-MDI kunde påverka kvaliteten. 4,4'-MDI blandas med Freund's complete adjuvant (FCA) som består av avdödade bakterier, vatten och olja. FCA används för att öka sensibiliseringen. Vårt försök visade att 4,4'-MDI reagerar med beståndsdelarna i FCA. Åldrad 4,4'-MDI som reagerar med beståndsdelarna i FCA kan ha en stor effekt på detektion av sensibilisering och kan förklara variationen i försöken.

I arbete VI undersökte vi instabiliteten av 4,4'-MDI i testberedningar som används för klinisk detektion av 4,4'-MDI–allergi. Våra resultat visar att varken flyktighet eller absorption av vatten orsakar polymeriseringen av 4,4'-MDI-molekylerna. Vi har försökt påvisa att 4,4'-MDI-trimeren existerar i åldrade 4,4'-MDI beredningar. Vi syntetiserade en 4,4'-MDI-trimer för att kunna jämföra det med kromatogramen av åldrade 4,4'-MDI beredningar. Syntesen gav inte en ren produkt som kunde identifieras med säkerhet. Den syntetiserade 4,4'-MDI trimeren är svårlöslig och har därför försvårat de kromatografiska analyserna och uppreningen. Instabiliteten av 4,4'-MDI-beredningarna beror troligen på trimerisering. Trimeren i sig har hög molekylvikt och är troligen inte ett starkt allergen. Många patienter har lapptestats med åldrande 4,4'-MDI preparationer där allergiska patienter inte visat några reaktioner. Därför kan vi dra slutsatsen att om trimeren finns korsreagerar den inte med 4,4' -MDI och är troligen är ett svagare allergen än 4,4'-MDI.

Acknowledgments

To my family who believed in me and supported me with the never-ending unconditional love and have provided me with moral and emotional support in my life. When I count my blessings I count you twice, I could not have asked for a better family: because I owe it all to you.

Thank you!

Many thanks to:

Super(hero)visor and life-coach, *Erik Zimerson*. Co-supervisor *Malin Engfeldt* for the help, encouragement during my rollercoaster journey. Thank you *Malin*, you are the best! Co-supervisor *Marléne Isaksson* and group leader *Magnus Bruze* for their excellent ideas and supervision.

My eternal cheerleader and best friend, *Annarita Antelmi* for the encouragement through all the ups and downs.

My deepest gratitude to my former colleague and good friend *Lena Persson*. Thank you for all the help, support and love. I miss our chat moments by the AAS. Thank you for listening to my whining, moaning and agreeing with my disagreement!

My forever interested, encouraging and always enthusiastic in-laws: they were always keen to know what I was doing and how I was proceeding, although it is likely that they have never grasped what it was all about!

I would also like to thank all my friends for encouraging me to keep going.

A very special gratitude goes out to Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare for providing the funding for this project.

With a special mention to my colleagues *Ewa Young, Lena Svensson, Kornelia Griekspoor Åsevik, Henrietta Passlov, Ann-Charlotte Thorsson, Christina Persson, Ola Bergendorff, Jakob Dahlin , Martin Mowitz, Linda Rosén, Linda Ljungberg and Ann-Kristin Björk.* It is fantastic to have the opportunity to work with you all. What a cracking place to work at!

And finally, last but by no means least, my deepest appreciation and love to my sweetheart husband and son who made this whole thing possible. Thank you for bearing with me. You guys rock!

Thanks for all your help and encouragement!

References

- 1. Rustemeyer T, Van Hoogstraaten I M V, Von Blomberg B M E, Gibbs S, Scheper R. Mechanisms of irritant and allergic contact dermatitis. In: *Contact Dermatitis*, 5th edn, Johansen J D, Frosch P J and Lepoitevin J-P (eds): Berlin, Springer, 2011: 43-90.
- 2. De Groot A C. *Patch testing test concentrations and vehicles for 4350 chemicals*. 3rd edn. Wapserveen, Acdegroot publishing, 2008.
- 3. Smith Pease C K, Basketter D A, Patlewicz G Y. Contact allergy: the role of skin chemistry and metabolism. *Clin Exp Dermatol* 2003:28:177-183.
- 4. Lepoittevin J-P. Mollecular aspects of allergic contact dermatitis. In: *Contact Dermatitis,* Frosch P J, Menné T, Lepoittevin J-P (eds), Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, 2006: 45-68.
- 5. Lepoittevin J-P. Molecular aspects in allergic and irritant contact dermatitis. In: *Contact Dermatitis*, 5th edn, Johansen J D, Frosch P J and Lepoittevin J-P (eds): Berlin, Springer, 2011:91-110.
- 6. Bruze M, Hedman H, Björkner B, Möller H. The development and course of test reactions to gold sodium thiosulfate. *Contact Dermatitis* 1995:33:386-391.
- 7. Isaksson M, Bruze M. Late patch-test reactions to budesonide need not be a sign of sensitization induced by the test procedure. *Am J Contact Dermat.* 2003:14:154-156.
- 8. Isaksson M, Lindberg M, Sundberg K, Hallander A, Bruze M. The development and course of patch-test reactions to 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate and ethyleneglycol dimethacrylate. *Contact Dermatitis* 2005:53:292-297.
- 9. Frick-Engfeldt M, Isaksson M, Zimerson E, Bruze M. How to optimize patch testing with diphenylmethane diisocyanate. *Contact Dermatitis* 2007:57:138-151.
- 10. Bloch B. The role of idiosyncrasy and allergy in dermatology. *Arch Dermatol.* 1929:175-197.
- 11. Bruze M, Isaksson M, Gruvberger B, Frick-Engfeldt M. Recommendation of appropriate amounts of petrolatum preparation to be applied at patch testing. *Contact Dermatitis* 2007:56:281-285.
- 12. Frick-Engfeldt M, Gruvberger B, Isaksson M, Hauksson I, Pontén A, Bruze M. Comparison of three different techniques for application of water solutions to Finn Chambers(R). *Contact Dermatitis* 2010:63:284-288.
- 13. Bruze M, Conde-Salazar L, Goossens A, Kanerva L, White I R. Thoughts on sensitizers in a standard patch test series. The European Society of Contact Dermatitis. *Contact Dermatitis*. 1999:41:241-250.
- 14. Lindberg M, Matura M. Patch testing. In: *Contact Dermatitis* 5th edn, Johansen J D, Frosch P J and Lepoittevin J-P (eds): Berlin, Springer: 2011: 439-464.

- 15. Fregert S. Manual of Contact Dermatitis, Munksgaard, 1981.
- 16. Macfarlane A W, Curley R K, Graham R M, Lewis-Jones M S, King C M. Delayed patch test reactions at days 7 and 9. *Contact Dermatitis* 1989:20:127-132.
- 17. Möller H, Ahnlide I, Gruvberger B, Bruze M. Gold trichloride and gold sodium thiosulfate as markers of contact allergy to gold. *Contact Dermatitis* 2005:53:80-83.
- 18. Bruze M, Björkner B, Lepoittevin J P. Occupational allergic contact dermatitis from ethyl cyanoacrylate. *Contact Dermatitis* 1995:32:156-159.
- 19. Estlander T, Kanerva L, Jolanki R. Polyurethane Resins. In: *Handbook of Occupational Dermatology*, Kanerva L, Wahlberg J E, Elsner P, Maibach H I (eds): Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, Springer: 2000: 597-601.
- 20. Thorpe D. Isocyanates. In: *The Huntsman polyurethanes book*, Randall D Lee S (eds): UK, Wiley: 2002: 63-88.
- 21. Klees J E, Ott M G. Diisocyanates in polyurethane plastics applications. *Occupational Medicine* 1999:14:759-776.
- 22. Ulrich H. Diisocyanates 1st edn, Chichester/New York/Brisbane/Toronto/Singapore, Wiley: 2001:315.
- 23. Verschoor L, Verschoor A H. Nonoccupational and occupational exposure to isocyanates. *Curr Opin Pulm Med* 2014:20:199-204.
- 24. Bosman J. Outline of polyurethane chemistry. In: *The Huntsman polyurethanes book*, Randall D, Lee S (eds): UK: Wiley: 2002: 113-126.
- 25. Goossens A, Detienne T, Bruze M. Occupational allergic contact dermatitis caused by isocyanates. *Contact Dermatitis* 2002:47:304-8.
- 26. Belsito D V. Common shoe allergens undetected by commercial patch-testing kits: dithiodimorpholine and isocyanates. *Am J Contact Dermat.* 2003:14:95-96.
- 27. Krone C A. Diisocyanates and nonoccupational disease: a review. Archives of environmental health 2004:59:306-316.
- 28. Militello G, Sasseville D, Ditre C, Brod BA. Allergic contact dermatitis from isocyanates among sculptors. *Dermatitis: contact, atopic, occupational, drug* 2004:15:150-153.
- 29. Morgan C J, Haworth A E. Allergic contact dermatitis from 1,6-hexamethylene diisocyanate in a domestic setting. *Contact Dermatitis* 2003:48(4):224.
- 30. Vilaplana J, Romaguera C, Grimalt F. Allergic contact dermatitis from aliphatic isocyanate on spectacle frames. *Contact Dermatitis* 1987:16:113.
- Streicher R P, Reh C M, Key-Schwartz R J, Schlecht P C, Cassinelli M E, O'Connor P F. Determination of airborne isocyanate exposure: considerations in method selection. *AIHAJ* 2000:61:544-556.
- 32. Karlsson D, Spanne M, Dalene M, Skarping G. Airborne thermal degradation products of polyurethane coatings in car repair shops. *J Environ Monitor* 2000:2:462-269.
- 33. Seguin P, Allard A, Cartier A, Malo J L. Prevalence of occupational asthma in spray painters exposed to several types of isocyanates, including polymethylene polyphenylisocyanate. *J Occup Med* 1987:29:340-344.

- 34. Redlich C A, Stowe M H, Coren B A, Wisnewski A V, Holm C T, Cullen M R. Diisocyanate-exposed auto body shop workers: a one-year follow-up. *Am J Ind Med* 2002:42:511-518.
- 35. Ponk A. Isocyanate exposure and respiratory health effects in the spray painting industry. Utrecht: Utrecht University: 2007.
- 36. United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Health Concerns about Spray Polyurethane Foam USA. Available from: https://www.epa.gov/saferchoice/health-concerns-about-spray-polyurethane-foam (last accessed 25 July 2017)
- 37. Baur X, Marek W, Ammon J, Czuppon AB, Marczynski B, Raulf-Heimsoth M, et al. Respiratory and other hazards of isocyanates. Int *Arch Occup Environ Health* 1994:66:141-152.
- 38. Redlich C A, Karol M H. Diisocyanate asthma: clinical aspects and immunopathogenesis. *Int Immunopharmacol.* 2002:2:213-224.
- 39. Brooks S M, Weiss M A, Bernstein I L. Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome (RADS). persistent asthma syndrome after high level irritant exposures. *Chest* 1985:88:376-384.
- 40. Shadnia S, Ahmadimanesh M, Ghazi-Khansari M, Zamani N. Intestinal obstruction in acute inhalational toluene 2,4-diisocyanate gas toxicity. *Int J Occup Environ Med.* 2013:4:164-166.
- 41. Ameille J, Hamelin K, Andujar P, Bensefa-Colas L, Bonneterre V, Dupas D, et al. Occupational asthma and occupational rhinitis: the united airways disease model revisited. *Occup Environ Med.* 2013:70:471-475.
- 42. The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), Preventing asthma and death from isocyanate exposure 1996. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/96-111/default.html (last accessed 25 July 2017)
- 43. Bernstein J A. Overview of diisocyanate occupational asthma. *Toxicology* 1996:111:181-189.
- 44. Karol M H, Hauth B A, Riley E J, Magreni C M. Dermal contact with toluene diisocyanate (TDI) produces respiratory tract hypersensitivity in guinea pigs. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* 1981:58:221-30.
- 45. Rattray N J, Botham P A, Hext P M, Woodcock D R, Fielding I, Dearman R J, et al. Induction of respiratory hypersensitivity to diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate (MDI) in guinea pigs. Influence of route of exposure. *Toxicology* 1994:88:15-30.
- 46. Spergel J M, Mizoguchi E, Brewer J P, Martin T R, Bhan A K, Geha R S. Epicutaneous sensitization with protein antigen induces localized allergic dermatitis and hyperresponsiveness to methacholine after single exposure to aerosolized antigen in mice. *J Clin Invest.* 1998:101:1614-1622.
- 47. Arrandale V, Meijster T, Pronk A, Doekes G, Redlich C A, Holness D L, et al. Skin symptoms in bakery and auto body shop workers: associations with exposure and respiratory symptoms. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 2013:86:167-175.
- Bello D, Herrick C A, Smith T J, Woskie S R, Streicher R P, Cullen M R, et al. Skin exposure to isocyanates: reasons for concern. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007:115:328-335.

- 49. Krone C A, Klingner T D. Isocyanates, polyurethane and childhood asthma. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* 2005:16:368-379.
- 50. Petsonk E L, Wang M L, Lewis D M, Siegel P D, Husberg B J. Asthma-like symptoms in wood product plant workers exposed to methylene diphenyl diisocyanate. *Chest* 2000:118:1183-1193.
- 51. IARC Monographs on the evaluation of the carcinogenic risk of chemicals to humans and their supplements. Re-evaluation of Some Organic Chemicals, Hydrazine and Hydrogen Peroxide. *Agency for research on cancer*, Lyon, France, 1999:71:1049-1058.
- 52. IARC Monographs on the evaluation of the carcinogenic risk of chemicals to humans and their supplements. Re-evaluation of Some Organic Chemicals, Hydrazine and Hydrogen Peroxide. *Agency for research on cancer*, Lyon, France, 1999:71:865-880.
- 53. World Health Organisation (WHO). Environemntal Health Criteria 74, diamino toluenes. *World Health Organisation*, Geneva, 1987.
- 54. IARC Monographs on the evaluation of the carcinogenic risk of chemicals to humans and their supplements. Some chemicals used in plastics and elastomers. *Agency for research on cancer*, Lyon, France, 1986:39:347-368.
- 55. Hygieniska gränsvärden och åtgärder mot luftföroreningar, 2005:17 (2005).
- 56. Björkner B, Frick M, Pontén A, Zimerson E. Plastic Materials. In: *Contact dermatitis*. Frosch PJ, Menné T, Lepoittevin J-P (eds), Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag: 2006:583-622.
- 57. Malten K E. Dermatological problems with synthetic resins and plastics in glues. Part II. *Derma Beruf Umwelt* 1984:32:118-125.
- 58. Frick M, Isaksson M, Björkner B, Hindsén M, Pontén A, Bruze M. Occupational allergic contact dermatitis in a company manufacturing boards coated with isocyanate lacquer. *Contact Dermatitis* 2003:48:255-260.
- 59. Frick M, Zimerson E, Karlsson D, Marand A, Skarping G, Isaksson M, et al. Poor correlation between stated and found concentrations of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate (4,4'-MDI) in petrolatum patch-test preparations. *Contact Dermatitis* 2004:51:73-78.
- 60. Frick-Engfeldt M, Zimerson E, Karlsson D, Marand Å, Skarping G, Isaksson M, et al. Chemical analysis of 2,4-toluene diisocyanate, 1,6-hexamethylene diisocyanate and isophorone diisocyanate in petrolatum patch-test preparations. *Dermatitis* 2005:16:130-135.
- 61. Emmett E A. Allergic contact dermatitis in polyurethane plastic moulders. *J Occup Med* 1976:18:802-804.
- 62. Frick M, Björkner B, Hamnerius N, Zimerson E. Allergic contact dermatitis from dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate. *Contact Dermatitis* 2003:48:305-309.
- 63. Israeli R, Smirnov V, Sculsky M. Intoxication due to dicyclohexyl-methane-4-4' diisocyanate exposure. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 1981:48:179-184.
- 64. King C M. Contact sensitivity to hylene W. Contact Dermatitis 1980:6:353-354.
- 65. Malten K E. 4,4' diisocyanato dicyclohexyl methane (Hylene W): A strong contact sensitizer. *Contact Dermatitis* 1977:3:344-346.

- 66. White I R, Stewart J R, Rycroft R J. Allergic contact dermatitis from an organic diisocyanate. *Contact Dermatitis* 1983:9:300-303.
- 67. Thorne P S, Hillebrand J A, Lewis G R, Karol M H. Contact sensitivity by diisocyanates: potencies and cross-reactivities. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1987:87:155-165.
- 68. van Och F M, Slob W, de Jong W H, Vandebriel R J, van Loveren H. A quantitative method for assessing the sensitizing potency of low molecular weight chemicals using a local lymph node assay: employment of a regression method that includes determination of the uncertainty margins. *Toxicology* 2000:146:49-59.
- 69. Le Coz C J, El Aboubi S, Ball C. Active sensitization to toluene di-isocyanate. *Contact Dermatitis* 1999:41:104-105.
- 70. Estlander T, Keskinen H, Jolanki R, Kanerva L. Occupational dermatitis from exposure to polyurethane chemicals. *Contact Dermatitis* 1992:27:161-165.
- 71. Hannu T, Estlander T, Jolanki R. Allergic contact dermatitis due to MDI and MDA from accidental occupational exposure. *Contact Dermatitis* 2005:52:108-109.
- 72. Lidén C. Allergic contact dermatitis from 4,4'diisocyanatol-diphenyl methane (MDI) in a molder. *Contact Dermatitis* 1980:6:301-302.
- 73. Fregert S. Allergic contact reaction to dipenyl-4,4'-diisocyanate. *Contact Dermatitis Newslett.* 1967:17.
- 74. Schröder C, Uter W, Schwanitz H J. Occupational allergic contact dermatitis, partly airborne, due to isocyanates and epoxy resin. *Contact Dermatitis* 1999:41:117-118.
- 75. Rothe A. Contact dermatitis from diisocyanates. Contact Dermatitis 1992:26:285-286.
- 76. Alomar A. Contact dermatitis from a fashion watch. *Contact Dermatitis* 1986:15:44-45.
- 77. Bruynzeel D P, van der Wegen-Keijser M H. Contact dermatitis in a cast technician. *Contact Dermatitis* 1993:28:193-194.
- 78. Tait C P, Delaney T A. Reactions causing reactions: allergic contact dermatitis to an isocyanate metabolite but not to the parent compound. *Australas J Dermatol* 1999:40:116-117.
- 79. Kanerva L, Estlander T, Jolanki R, Lahteenmaki M T, Keskinen H. Occupational urticaria from welding polyurethane. *J Am Acad Dermatol* 1991:24:825-826.
- 80. Larsen T H, Gregersen P, Jemec G B. Skin irritation and exposure to diisocyanates in orthopedic nurses working with soft casts. *Am J Contact Dermat* 2001:12:211-214.
- Valks R, Conde-Salazar L, Barrantes O L. Occupational allergic contact urticaria and asthma from diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanatae. *Contact Dermatitis* 2003:49:166-167.
- 82. Thyssen J P, Gimenez-Arnau E, Lepoittevin J P, Menne T, Boman A, Schnuch A. The critical review of methodologies and approaches to assess the inherent skin sensitization potential (skin allergies) of chemicals. Part I. *Contact Dermatitis* 2012:66 Suppl 1:11-24.
- 83. Benezra C, Maibach H. True cross-sensitization, false cross-sensitization and otherwise. Contact dermatitis. 1984:11(2):65-69.

- 84. Lepoittevin J P. Molecular Aspects in Allergic and Irritant Contact Dermatitis. In: *Contact Dermatitis*, 5th edn, Johansen J D, Frosch P J, Lepoittevin J P (eds): Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer: 2011.
- 85. Bruze M, Zimerson E. Cross-reaction patterns in patients with contact allergy to simple methylol phenols. *Contact Dermatitis*. 1997:37:82-86.
- 86. Hamada H, Isaksson M, Bruze M, Engfeldt M, Liljelind I, Axelsson S, et al. Dermal uptake study with 4,4'-diphenylmethane diisocyanate led to active sensitization. *Contact Dermatitis* 2012:66:101-105.
- 87. Fent K W, Jayaraj K, Gold A, Ball L M, Nylander-French L A. Tape-strip sampling for measuring dermal exposure to 1,6-hexamethylene diisocyanate. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2006:32:225-240.
- 88. Sennbro C J, Lindh C H, Tinnerberg H, Gustavsson C, Littorin M, Welinder H, et al. Development, validation and characterization of an analytical method for the quantification of hydrolysable urinary metabolites and plasma protein adducts of 2,4and 2,6-toluene diisocyanate, 1,5-naphthalene diisocyanate and 4,4'methylenediphenyl diisocyanate. *Biomarkers* 2003:8:204-217.
- 89. Magnusson B, Kligman A M. Allergic contact dermatitis in the guinea pig: identifications of contact allergens. Springfield, Charles C. Thomas: 1970.
- 90. Bruze M. Contact sensitizers in resins based on phenol and formaldehyde. *Acta Derm Venereol Suppl (Stockh)* 1985:119:1-83.
- 91. Wahlberg J E, Boman A. Guinea pig maximization test. *Curr Probl Dermatol* 1985:14:59-106.
- 92. Jing Zhang Y-FT, Jin Liu, Yan Chen. Thermal Stability and Thermal Degradation Reaction Kinetics of 4,4'-Diphenylmethane Diisocyanatetrimer. *Asian Journal of Chemistry* 2014:26:1527-1529.
- 93. Thomson M A, Melling P J. Real-Time Monitoring of Isocyanate Chemistry using a Fiber-Optic FTIR Probe. In: *In Situ Spectroscopy of Monomer and Polymer Synthesis*, Puskas JE, Long TE, Storey RF, Shaikh S, Simmons C L, (eds): Boston, MA, Springer US: 2003:147-161.
- 94. Robert A, Ducos P, Francin J M, Marsan P. Biological monitoring of workers exposed to 4,4'-methylenediphenyl diisocyanate (MDI) in 19 French polyurethane industries. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 2007:80:412-422.
- 95. Vock E H, Hoymann H G, Heinrich U, Lutz W K. ³²P-postlabeling of a DNA adduct derived from 4,4'-methylenedianiline, in the olfactory epithelium of rats exposed by inhalation to 4,4'-methylenediphenyl diisocyanate. *Carcinogenesis* 1996:17:1069-1073.
- 96. Schutze D, Sepai O, Lewalter J, Miksche L, Henschler D, Sabbioni G. Biomonitoring of workers exposed to 4,4'-methylenedianiline or 4,4'-methylenediphenyl diisocyanate. *Carcinogenesis* 1995:16:573-582.
- 97. Sepai O, Henschler D, Sabbioni G. Albumin adducts, hemoglobin adducts and urinary metabolites in workers exposed to 4,4'-methylenediphenyl diisocyanate. *Carcinogenesis* 1995:16:2583-2587.

- 98. Friedmann P S. The relationships between exposure dose and response in induction and elicitation of contact hypersensitivity in humans. *Br J Dermatol* 2007:157:1093-1102.
- 99. Kligman AM. The Identification of Contact Allergens by Human Assay. J Invest Dermatol 1966:47:375-392.
- 100. European Society of Contact Dermatitis. (2010). Patch testing of MDI (Diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate). Available: http://www.escd.org. (Last accessed 29 June 2011).
- Kim H O, Wester R C, McMaster J A, Bucks D A, Maibach H I. Skin absorption from patch test systems. *Contact Dermatitis* 1987:17:178-180.
- 102. Hamada H, Bruze M, Zimerson E, Isaksson M, Engfeldt M. Sensitization and crossreactivity patterns of contact allergy to diisocyanates and corresponding amines: investigation of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate, diphenylmethane-4,4'-diamine, dicyclohexylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate, and dicylohexylmethane-4,4'-diamine. *Contact Dermatitis*. 2017:2017 May 29 Epub ahead of print.
- 103. Pauluhn J, Lewalter J. Analysis of markers of exposure to polymeric methylenediphenyl diisocyanate (pMDI) in rats: a comparison of dermal and inhalation routes of exposure. *Exp Toxicol Pathol* 2002:54:135-146.
- 104. Sennbro CJ, Lindh CH, Mattsson C, Jonsson BA, Tinnerberg H. Biological monitoring of exposure to 1,5-naphthalene diisocyanate and 4,4'-methylenediphenyl diisocyanate. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 2006:79:647-653.
- 105. Brunmark P, Bruze M, Skerfving S, Skarping G. Biomonitoring of 4,4'-methylene dianiline by measurement in hydrolysed urine and plasma after epicutaneous exposure in humans. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 1995:67:95-100.
- 106. Hotchkiss S A, Hewitt P, Caldwell J. Percutaneous absorption of 4,4'-methylene-bis(2chloroaniline) and 4,4'-methylenedianiline through rat and human skin in vitro. *Toxicol In Vitro* 1993:7:141-148.
- 107. Frick-Engfeldt M, Zimerson E, Karlsson D, Skarping G, Isaksson M, Bruze M. Is it possible to improve the patch-test diagnostics for isocyanates? A stability study of petrolatum preparations of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate and polymeric diphenylmethane diisocyanate. *Contact Dermatitis* 2007:56:27-34.
- 108. Malinauskiene L, Zimerson E, Bruze M, Ryberg K, Isaksson M. Sensitizing capacity of Disperse Orange 1 and its potential metabolites from azo reduction and their cross-reactivity pattern. *Contact Dermatitis* 2013:69:40-48.
- 109. Duprat P, Gradiski D, Marignac B. The irritant and allergenic action of two isocyanates: toluene diisocyanate (TDI) and diphenylmethane diisocyanate (MDI). *Eur J Toxicol Environ Hyg* 1976:9:43-53.
- 110. Engfeldt M, Goossens A, Isaksson M, Zimerson E, Bruze M. The outcome of 9 years of consecutive patch testing with 4,4'-diaminodiphenylmethane and 4,4'-diphenylmethane diisocyanate. *Contact Dermatitis* 2013:68:98-102.
- 111. Isaksson M, Gruvberger B. Patch test sensitization to methylchloroisothiazolinone + methylisothiazolinone and 4,4'-diaminodiphenylmethane. *Contact Dermatitis* 2003:48:53-54.

- 112. Yazar K, Boman A, Lidén C. Potent skin sensitizers in oxidative hair dye products on the Swedish market. *Contact Dermatitis* 2009:61:269-75.
- 113. Yazar K, Boman A, Lidén C. p-Phenylenediamine and other hair dye sensitizers in Spain. *Contact Dermatitis* 2012:66:27-32.
- 114. Søsted H, Basketter D A, Estrada E, Johansen J D, Patlewicz G Y. Ranking of hair dye substances according to predicted sensitization potency: quantitative structure-activity relationships. *Contact Dermatitis* 2004:51:241-254.
- 115. Warbrick E V, Dearman R J, Lea L J, Basketter D A, Kimber I. Local lymph node assay responses to paraphenylenediamine: intra- and inter-laboratory evaluations. *J Appl Toxicol* 1999:19:255-260.
- 116. Yamano T, Shimizu M. Skin sensitization potency and cross-reactivity of pphenylenediamine and its derivatives evaluated by non-radioactive murine local lymph node assay and guinea-pig maximization test. *Contact Dermatitis* 2009:60:193-198.
- Liippo J, Lammintausta K. Contact sensitization to 4,4'-diaminodiphenylmethane and to isocyanates among general dermatology patients. *Contact Dermatitis* 2008:59:109-114.
- 118. Uter W, Lessmann H, Geier J, Becker D, Fuchs T, Richter G, et al. The spectrum of allergic (cross-)sensitivity in clinical patch testing with 'para amino' compounds. *Allergy* 2002:57:319-322.
- 119. Di Prisco M C, Puig L, Alomar A. Contact dermatitis due to para-phenylenediamine (PPD) on a temporal tattoo with henna. Cross reaction to azoic dyes. *Investigacion Clinica* 2006:47:295-299.
- 120. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Develoment (OECD). Test No. 406: Skin Sensitisation. Paris: OECD Publishing: 1992.
- 121. The polyurethanes book. United Kingdom: John Wiley & Sons, LTD: 2002.
- 122. SciFinder. Available from: http://www.cas.org/products/scifinder (Last accessed 23 March 2017).
- 123. Bielstein Chemical database. Available from: http://www.chem.ox. ac.uk/cheminfo/reaxys.html (Last accessed 23 March 2017).
- 124. Hamada H, Liljelind I, Bruze M, Engfeldt M, Isaksson M, Jönsson B, Tinnerberg H, Lindh C, Axelsson S, Zimerson E, Assessment of dermal uptake of diphenylmethane-4,4'-diisocyanate using tape stripping and biological monitoring. Accepted for publication in *Eur J Dermatol* 2017.





Department of Occupational and Environmental Dermatology | Skåne University Hospital Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2017:110 ISBN 978-91-7619-492-8 ISSN 1652-8220



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine